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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
 

ITEM 1. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RESOURCES CONNECTION, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)
(Amounts in thousands, except par value per share)

 
   

November 24,
2018   

May 26,
2018  

ASSETS    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 40,823  $ 56,470 
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,821 and $1,640 as of November 24, 2018

and May 26, 2018, respectively    146,499   130,452 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    6,996   7,230 
Income taxes receivable    1,120   729 

    
 

   
 

Total current assets    195,438   194,881 
Goodwill    191,172   191,950 
Intangible assets, net    16,517   18,531 
Property and equipment, net    23,699   22,413 
Deferred income taxes    1,403   2,850 
Other assets    3,061   2,049 

    
 

   
 

Total assets   $ 431,290  $ 432,674 
    

 

   

 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable and accrued expenses   $ 22,256  $ 23,280 
Accrued salaries and related obligations    51,973   58,418 
Other liabilities    11,356   12,826 

    
 

   
 

Total current liabilities    85,585   94,524 
Long-term debt    58,000   63,000 
Deferred income taxes    3,233   —   
Other long-term liabilities    7,062   6,325 

    
 

   
 

Total liabilities    153,880   163,849 
    

 
   

 

Commitments and contingencies    
Stockholders’ equity:    

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 5,000 shares authorized; zero shares issued and outstanding    —     —   
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 70,000 shares authorized; 62,169 and 61,252 shares issued, and 31,724 and

31,614 shares outstanding as of November 24, 2018 and May 26, 2018, respectively    622   613 
Additional paid-in capital    445,098   429,578 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (12,413)   (10,385) 
Retained earnings    343,827   335,741 
Treasury stock at cost, 30,445 and 29,638 shares as of    

November 24, 2018 and May 26, 2018, respectively    (499,724)   (486,722) 
    

 
   

 

Total stockholders’ equity    277,410   268,825 
    

 
   

 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 431,290  $ 432,674 
    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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RESOURCES CONNECTION, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
 
   Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  

   
November 24,

2018   
November 25,

2017   
November 24,

2018   
November 25,

2017  
Revenue   $ 188,799  $ 156,738  $ 367,357  $ 297,924 
Direct cost of services, primarily payroll and related taxes for professional services

employees    115,378   97,319   225,785   184,807 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Gross margin    73,421   59,419   141,572   113,117 
Selling, general and administrative expenses    54,959   47,498   111,325   94,913 
Amortization of intangible assets    952   322   1,907   322 
Depreciation expense    1,197   947   2,266   1,887 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Income from operations    16,313   10,652   26,074   15,995 
Interest expense    642   397   1,247   734 
Interest income    (34)   (32)   (113)   (60) 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Income before provision for income taxes    15,705   10,287   24,940   15,321 
Provision for income taxes    5,141   2,149   8,635   5,071 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Net income   $ 10,564  $ 8,138  $ 16,305  $ 10,250 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Net income per common share:      
Basic   $ 0.33  $ 0.27  $ 0.51  $ 0.34 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Diluted   $ 0.33  $ 0.27  $ 0.50  $ 0.34 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Weighted average common shares outstanding:      
Basic    31,721   30,173   31,731   29,991 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Diluted    32,446   30,579   32,457   30,319 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Cash dividends declared per common share   $ 0.13  $ 0.12  $ 0.26  $ 0.24 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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RESOURCES CONNECTION, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in thousands)
 
   Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  

   
November 24,

2018   
November 25,

2017   
November 24,

2018   
November 25,

2017  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:      

Net income   $ 10,564  $ 8,138  $ 16,305  $ 10,250 
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax    (1,426)   (610)   (2,028)   2,105 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Total comprehensive income   $ 9,138  $ 7,528  $ 14,277  $ 12,355 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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RESOURCES CONNECTION, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in thousands)
 
                     

 

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss  

      
         

  

Additional
Paid-in
Capital  

           

 

Total
Stockholders’

Equity  
   Common Stock    Treasury Stock  

 
Retained
Earnings     Shares    Amount   Shares    Amount  

Balances as of May 26, 2018    61,252   $ 613   $429,578    29,638   $(486,722)  $ (10,385)  $335,741  $ 268,825
Exercise of stock options    751    8    10,405         10,413
Stock-based compensation expense        2,938         2,938
Issuance of common stock under Employee

Stock Purchase Plan    166    1    2,177         2,178
Purchase of shares          807    (13,002)     (13,002) 
Cash dividends declared ($0.26 per share)              (8,219)   (8,219) 
Currency translation adjustment             (2,028)    (2,028) 
Net income for the six months ended

November 24, 2018              16,305   16,305
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
    

 
   

 
   

 
   

 

Balances as of November 24, 2018    62,169   $ 622   $445,098    30,445   $(499,724)  $ (12,413)  $343,827  $ 277,410
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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RESOURCES CONNECTION, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited)

(Amounts in thousands)
 
   Six Months Ended  

   
November 24,

2018   
November 25,

2017  
Cash flows from operating activities:    

Net income   $ 16,305  $ 10,250 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Depreciation and amortization    4,173   2,209 
Stock-based compensation expense    3,013   3,062 
Contingent consideration adjustment    (37)   —   
Loss on disposal of assets    64   —   
Bad debt expense    477   364 
Deferred income taxes    4,620   (906) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of business combinations:    

Trade accounts receivable    (17,838)   (8,394) 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets    205   (568) 
Income taxes    (3,102)   1,468 
Other assets    (1,042)   84 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses    (458)   1,245 
Accrued salaries and related obligations    (6,121)   (5,943) 
Other liabilities    1,406   (1,231) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash provided by operating activities    1,665   1,640 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from investing activities:    
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment    —     1 
Acquisition of Accretive    (3)  
Acquisition of taskforce net of cash acquired    —     (3,423) 
Purchase of property and equipment    (3,405)   (784) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in investing activities    (3,408)   (4,206) 
    

 
   

 

Cash flows from financing activities:    
Proceeds from exercise of stock options    10,413   1,666 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under Employee Stock Purchase Plan    2,178   2,260 
Purchase of common stock    (13,002)   —   
Repayment on Revolving Credit Facility    (5,000)   —   
Cash dividends paid    (7,887)   (6,833) 

    
 

   
 

Net cash used in financing activities    (13,298)   (2,907) 
    

 
   

 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash    (606)   (572) 
    

 
   

 

Net decrease in cash    (15,647)   (6,045) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period    56,470   62,329 

    
 

   
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period   $ 40,823  $ 56,284 
    

 

   

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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RESOURCES CONNECTION, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)
Three and six months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017

1. Description of the Company and its Business

Resources Connection, Inc. (“Resources Connection”), a Delaware corporation, was incorporated on November 16, 1998. Resources Connection
is a multinational business consulting firm; its operating entities provide services primarily under the name Resources Global Professionals (“RGP” or
the “Company”). The Company provides agile consulting services and talent to its global client base utilizing experienced professionals in the areas of
accounting; finance; governance, risk and compliance management; corporate advisory, strategic communications and restructuring; information
management; human capital; supply chain management; and legal and regulatory. The Company has offices in the United States (“U.S.”), Asia,
Australia, Canada, Europe and Mexico.

The Company’s fiscal year consists of 52 or 53 weeks, ending on the last Saturday in May. The second quarters of fiscal 2019 and 2018 each
consisted of 13 weeks.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Interim Financial Information

The financial information as of and for the three and six months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017 is unaudited but includes all
adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) the Company considers necessary for a fair presentation of its financial position at such
dates and the operating results and cash flows for those periods. The fiscal 2018 year-end balance sheet data was derived from audited financial
statements, and certain information and note disclosures normally included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the U.S. (“GAAP”) have been condensed or omitted pursuant to Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rules
or regulations; however, the Company believes the disclosures made are adequate to make the information presented not misleading.

The results of operations for the interim periods presented are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected for the full
fiscal year. These condensed interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements for the year ended May 26,
2018, which are included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year then ended (File No. 0-32113).

Revenue Recognition

Effective May 27, 2018, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(“ASC 606”), using the modified retrospective method, which allows companies to apply the new revenue standard to reporting periods beginning in the
year the standard is first implemented, while prior periods continue to be reported in accordance with previous accounting guidance. The adoption of
ASC 606 did not have a significant impact on revenue recognition; therefore, the Company did not have an opening retained earnings adjustment.

Revenues are recognized when control of the promised service is transferred to the Company’s clients, in an amount that reflects the consideration
expected in exchange for the services. Revenue is recorded net of sales or other transaction taxes collected from clients and remitted to taxing
authorities. Revenues from contracts are recognized over time, based on hours worked by the Company’s professionals. The performance of the
agreed-to service over time is the single performance obligation for revenues. Certain clients may receive discounts (for example, volume discounts or
rebates) to the amounts billed. These discounts or rebates are considered variable consideration. Management evaluates the facts and circumstances of
each contract and client relationship to estimate the variable consideration assessing the most likely amount to recognize and considering management’s
expectation of the volume of services to be provided over the applicable period. Rebates are the largest component of variable consideration and are
estimated using the most likely amount method prescribed by ASC 606, contracts terms and estimates of revenue. Revenues are recognized net of
variable consideration to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal of revenues will not occur in subsequent periods.

On a limited basis, the Company may have fixed-price contracts, for which revenues are recognized over time using the input method based on
time incurred as a proportion of estimated total time. Time incurred represents work performed, which corresponds with, and therefore best depicts, the
transfer of control to the client. Management uses significant judgments when estimating the total hours expected to complete the contract performance
obligation. It is possible that updated estimates for consulting engagements may vary from initial estimates with such updates being recognized in the
period of determination. Depending on the timing of billings and services rendered, the Company accrues or defers revenue as appropriate.
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The Company recognizes revenues on a gross basis as it acts as a principal for primarily all of its revenue transactions. The Company has
concluded that gross reporting is appropriate because the Company a) has the risk of identifying and hiring qualified consultants; b) has the discretion to
select the consultants and establish the price and responsibilities for services to be provided; and c) bears the risk for services provided that are not fully
paid for by clients. The Company recognizes all reimbursements received from clients for “out-of-pocket” expenses as revenue and all such expenses as
direct cost of services. Reimbursements received from clients were $3.2 million and $2.9 million for the three months ended November 24, 2018 and
November 25, 2017, respectively, and $6.5 million and $5.5 million for the six months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017, respectively.

The Company’s clients are contractually obligated to pay the Company for all hours billed. We invoice the majority of our clients on a weekly
basis or, in certain circumstances, on a monthly basis, in accordance with our standard arrangement of payment due within 30 days. To a much lesser
extent, the Company also earns revenue if one of its consultants is hired by, or if the Company places an outside candidate with, its client. Conversion
fees or permanent placement fees are recognized when one of the Company’s professionals or a candidate identified by the Company, accepts an offer of
permanent employment from a client and all requisite terms of the agreement have been met. Such conversion fees or permanent placement fees are
recognized when the performance obligation is considered complete, which the Company considers a) when the consultant or candidate accepts the
position; b) the consultant or candidate has notified either RGP or their current employer of their decision; and c) the start date is within the Company’s
current quarter. Conversion fees were 0.4% of revenue for each of the three months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017, and 0.5% and
0.4% of revenue for the six months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017, respectively. Permanent placement fees were 0.6% and 0.2% of
revenue for the three months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017, respectively, and 0.6% and 0.1% of revenue for the six months ended
November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017, respectively.

The Company’s contracts generally have termination for convenience provisions and do not have termination penalties. While our clients are
contractually obligated to pay the Company for all hours billed, the Company does not have long-term agreements with its clients for the provision of
services and the Company’s clients may terminate engagements at any time. All costs of compensating the Company’s professionals are the
responsibility of the Company and are included in direct cost of services.

Foreign Currency Translation

The financial statements of subsidiaries outside the U.S. are measured using the local currency as the functional currency. Assets and liabilities of
these subsidiaries are translated at the exchange rates effective at the end of the period, income and expense items are translated at average exchange
rates prevailing during the period and the related translation adjustments are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income or
loss within the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are included in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

Net Income Per Share Information

The Company presents both basic and diluted earnings per common share (“EPS”). Basic EPS is calculated by dividing net income by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is based upon the weighted average number of common and
common equivalent shares outstanding during the period, calculated using the treasury stock method for stock options. Under the treasury stock method,
assumed proceeds include the amount the employee must pay for exercising stock options and the amount of compensation cost for future services the
Company has not yet recognized. Common equivalent shares are excluded from the computation in periods in which they have an anti-dilutive effect.
Stock options for which the exercise price exceeds the average market price per common share over the period are anti-dilutive and are excluded from
the calculation.

The following table summarizes the calculation of net income per common share for the periods indicated (in thousands, except per share
amounts):
 

   Three Months Ended    Six Months Ended  

   
November 24,

2018    
November 25,

2017    
November 24,

2018    
November 25,

2017  
Net income   $ 10,564   $ 8,138   $ 16,305   $ 10,250 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Basic:         
Weighted average shares    31,721    30,173    31,731    29,991 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Diluted:         
Weighted average shares    31,721    30,173    31,731    29,991 
Potentially dilutive shares    725    406    726    328 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total dilutive shares    32,446    30,579    32,457    30,319 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

Net income per common share:         
Basic   $ 0.33   $ 0.27   $ 0.51   $ 0.34 
Dilutive   $ 0.33   $ 0.27   $ 0.50   $ 0.34 

Anti-dilutive shares not included above    3,248    5,268    3,112    5,225 
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense for all share-based awards made to employees and directors, including employee stock options,
restricted stock grants, restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and employee stock purchases made via the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the
“ESPP”), based on estimated fair value at the date of grant.

The Company estimates the fair value of share-based awards on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The value of the portion of the
award ultimately expected to vest is recognized as an expense over the requisite service periods. Stock option awards vest over four years and restricted
stock award vesting is determined on an individual grant basis under the Company’s 2014 Performance Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”). The Company
determines the estimated value of stock option awards using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation
expense on a straight-line basis over the service period for options and restricted stock that are expected to vest and records adjustments to compensation
expense at the end of the service period if actual forfeitures differ from original estimates.

See Note 9 — Stock-Based Compensation Plans for further information on the 2014 Plan and stock-based compensation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although management believes these estimates and assumptions are adequate, actual
results could differ from the estimates and assumptions used.

3. Acquisitions

During fiscal 2018, the Company completed two acquisitions. The first acquisition, completed August 31, 2017 (the second quarter of fiscal
2018), was of taskforce – Management on Demand AG (“taskforce”), a German based professional services firm founded in 2007, that provides clients
with senior interim management and project management expertise. Subsequent to the acquisition, taskforce continues to operate as a separate brand.
The Company paid initial consideration of €5.8 million (approximately $6.9 million at the date of acquisition) in a combination of cash and restricted
stock.

In addition, the purchase agreement for taskforce requires additional earn-out payments to be made based on performance in calendar years 2017,
2018 and 2019. Under accounting rules for business combinations, obligations that are contingently payable to the sellers based upon the occurrence of
one or more future events are recorded as a discounted liability on the Company’s balance sheet. The Company is obligated to pay the sellers in Euros as
follows: for calendar year 2017, Adjusted EBITDA times 6.1 times 20%; and for both calendar years 2018 and 2019, Adjusted EBITDA times 6.1 times
15%; (Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as defined in the purchase agreement). The payment for calendar 2017 of €2.1 million was made March 28, 2018.
The Company estimated the fair value of the obligation to pay the remaining contingent consideration for calendar years 2018 and 2019 based on a
number of different projections of the estimated Adjusted EBITDA for each such years. The Company recorded this future obligation using a discount
rate of approximately 11.0%, representing the Company’s weighted average cost of capital. The current estimated fair value of the contractual obligation
to pay the contingent consideration for calendar years 2018 and 2019 totals €3.9 million (approximately $4.4 million based on the exchange rate on the
last day of the second quarter of fiscal 2019) as of November 24, 2018. Each reporting period, the Company will estimate changes in the fair value of
contingent consideration and any change in fair value will be recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. The estimate of fair
value of contingent consideration requires very subjective assumptions to be made of various potential Adjusted EBITDA results and discount rates.
Future revisions to these assumptions could materially change the estimate of the fair value of contingent consideration and therefore could materially
affect the Company’s future operating results. During the three and six months ended November 24, 2018, the Company decreased the estimated
contingent consideration by €114,000 ($130,000) and €30,000 ($33,000), respectively, and also recognized accretion expense on the discounted liability.
These amounts are included in S, G & A for the respective periods. Results of operations of taskforce are included in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations from the date of acquisition.

The second acquisition occurred December 4, 2017 (the third quarter of fiscal 2018) when the Company acquired substantially all of the assets
and assumed certain liabilities of Accretive Solutions, Inc. (“Accretive”). Accretive was a professional services firm that provided expertise in
accounting and finance, enterprise governance, business technology and business transformation solutions to a wide variety of organizations in the U.S.
and supported startups through its Countsy suite of back office services. The Company paid consideration of $20.0 million in cash and issued 1,072,000
shares of Resources Connection, Inc. common stock restricted for sale for four years; additional cash and shares of Company stock will be due after
settlement of working capital adjustments. In addition, additional amounts may be paid to the sellers at the end of a certain period of time if there are no
claims or may be used to satisfy any preacquisition claims in favor of the buyers. As of the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2019, the amounts due
based on initial estimates of the resolution of these items are $0.1 million in cash and 108,000 in additional shares of common stock and are accrued as a
liability on the balance sheet as of November 24, 2018. The Company completed its integration of the operations of Accretive into its business model as
of the first day of fiscal 2019 and thus the Company is unable to estimate the impact of additional revenue attributable to the Accretive acquisition
during fiscal 2019.
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4. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

The following table summarizes details of the Company’s intangible assets and related accumulated amortization (amounts in thousands):
 
   As of November 24, 2018    As of May 26, 2018  

   Gross    
Accumulated
Amortization  Net    Gross    

Accumulated
Amortization  Net  

Customer contracts and relationships (3-8 years)   $14,516   $ (2,352)  $12,164   $14,565   $ (1,263)  $13,302 
Tradenames (3-10 years)    4,429    (1,059)   3,370    4,481    (560)   3,921 
Consultant list (3 years)    793    (334)   459    815    (205)   610 
Non-compete agreements (3 years)    906    (382)   524    932    (234)   698 

    
 

    
 

   
 

    
 

    
 

   
 

Total   $20,644   $ (4,127)  $16,517   $20,793   $ (2,262)  $18,531 
    

 

    

 

   

 

    

 

    

 

   

 

The Company recorded amortization expense of $1.0 million and $0.3 million for the three months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25,
2017, respectively, and $1.9 million and $0.3 million for the six months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017, respectively. The increase
in the current fiscal year is due to the amortization of intangible assets acquired in the Accretive transaction. Future estimated intangible asset
amortization expense (based on existing intangible assets) is $3.8 million, $3.8 million, $2.5 million, $1.8 million and $1.8 million for the years ending
May 25, 2019, May 30, 2020, May 29, 2021, May 28, 2022 and May 27, 2023, respectively. The estimates of future intangible asset amortization
expense do not incorporate the potential impact of future currency fluctuations when translating the financial results of the Company’s international
operations that have amortizable intangible assets into U.S. dollars.

The following table summarizes the activity in the Company’s goodwill balance (in thousands):
 

   
November 24,

2018    
November 25,

2017  
Goodwill, beginning of year   $ 191,950   $ 171,088 
Acquisitions (see Note 3)    3    9,039 
Impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes    (781)    1,081 

    
 

    
 

Goodwill, end of period   $ 191,172   $ 181,208 
    

 

    

 

5. Income Taxes

On December 22, 2017, Congress enacted H.R.1, the “Tax Cuts and Jobs Act” (“Tax Reform Act”), which made significant changes to U.S.
federal income tax laws including reducing the corporate rate from 35% to 21% effective January 1, 2018. In December 2017, the SEC issued Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 118 which allows the Company to record provisional amounts related to the impact of the Tax Reform Act and adjust those
amounts during a measurement period not to extend more than one year from date of enactment. During fiscal 2018, the Company recorded a
provisional income tax benefit of approximately $0.8 million upon re-measurement of U.S. deferred tax assets and liabilities at the rate the balances are
expected to be realized.
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The Tax Reform Act also includes the Global Intangible Low-Tax Income (“GILTI”) provision, a new mechanism for taxing certain foreign
profits, the Base Erosion Anti-Abuse Tax , a minimum tax on payments to related parties, and the Foreign-Derived Intangible Income provision, a tax
incentive to earn income abroad. The Company is permitted to make an accounting policy election to account for GILTI as either a period charge when
the tax arises or as a part of deferred taxes. Due to the complexity of the GILTI provisions, the Company is still evaluating the impact on future periods
and has not yet elected an accounting policy regarding GILTI. The Company has recognized provisional tax impacts associated with GILTI as a current
expense for the six months ended November 24, 2018.

The Company’s provision for income taxes was $5.1 million (effective tax rate of approximately 33%) and $2.1 million (effective tax rate of
approximately 21%) for the three months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017, respectively, and $8.6 million (effective tax rate of
approximately 35%) and $5.1 million (effective tax rate of approximately 33%) for the six months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017,
respectively. The Company records tax expense based upon an actual effective tax rate versus a forecasted tax rate because of the volatility in its
international operations that span numerous tax jurisdictions.

The provision for income taxes in the three and six months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017 results from taxes on income in the
U.S. and certain other foreign jurisdictions, no benefit for losses in jurisdictions in which a full valuation allowance on operating loss carryforwards had
previously been established and a lower benefit for losses in certain foreign jurisdictions with tax rates lower than the U.S. statutory rates. The provision
for income taxes increased for the three months ended November 24, 2018 compared to the prior year quarter because of improved global income. Also
in the prior year quarter, the Company reversed $2.4 million of valuation allowances that offset deferred tax assets of certain foreign entities; there was
no reversal in the current year quarter. Although the effective rate for the three months ended November 24, 2018 is positively impacted by the reduced
US tax rate, the effective rate increased as the prior year quarter benefited from the aforementioned valuation allowance reversal.

The Company recognized a tax benefit of approximately $0.1 million and $0.2 million during the second quarter of fiscal 2019 and 2018,
respectively and no net tax benefit and $0.6 million, during the first six months of fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively, related to stock-based
compensation for nonqualified stock options expensed and for disqualifying dispositions under the ESPP.
 

12



Table of Contents

6. Long-Term Debt

The Company has a $120 million secured revolving credit facility (“Facility”) with Bank of America, consisting of (i) a $90 million revolving
loan facility (“Revolving Loan”), which includes a $5 million sublimit for the issuance of standby letters of credit, and (ii) a $30 million reducing
revolving loan facility (“Reducing Revolving Loan”), any amounts of which may not be reborrowed after being repaid. The Facility is available for
working capital and general corporate purposes, including potential acquisitions and stock repurchases. The Company’s obligations under the Facility
are guaranteed by all of the Company’s domestic subsidiaries and secured by essentially all assets of the Company, Resources Connection LLC and their
domestic subsidiaries, subject to certain customary exclusions. Borrowings under the Facility bear interest at a rate per annum of either, at the
Company’s option, (i) a London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) defined in the Facility plus a margin of 1.25% or 1.50% or (ii) an alternate base rate,
plus a margin of 0.25% or 0.50%, with the applicable margin depending on the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio. The alternate base rate is the
highest of (i) Bank of America’s prime rate, (ii) the federal funds rate plus 0.50% and (iii) the Eurodollar rate plus 1.0%. The Company pays an unused
commitment fee on the average daily unused portion of the Facility at a rate of 0.15% to 0.25% depending upon on the Company’s consolidated
leverage ratio. The Facility expires October 17, 2021.

The Facility contains both affirmative and negative covenants. Covenants include, but are not limited to, limitations on the Company’s and its
subsidiaries’ ability to incur liens, incur additional indebtedness, make certain restricted payments, merge or consolidate and make disposition of assets.
In addition, the Facility requires the Company to comply with financial covenants limiting the Company’s total funded debt, minimum interest coverage
ratio and maximum leverage ratio. The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants under the Facility as of November 24, 2018.

Upon the occurrence of an event of default under the Facility, the lender may cease making loans, terminate the Facility and declare all amounts
outstanding to be immediately due and payable. The Facility specifies a number of events of default (some of which are subject to applicable grace or
cure periods), including, among other things, non-payment defaults, covenant defaults, cross-defaults to other material indebtedness, bankruptcy and
insolvency defaults and material judgment defaults.

The Company’s borrowings on the Facility were $58.0 million as of November 24, 2018, all of which were under the Revolving Loan. In addition,
the Company has $1.3 million of outstanding letters of credit issued under the Revolving Loan. The Company has $30.7 million remaining to borrow
under the Revolving Loan and $30.0 million remaining under the Reducing Revolving Loan as of November 24, 2018. As of November 24, 2018, the
interest rate on the Company’s borrowings was 4.0% on a tranche of $19.0 million (6-month LIBOR plus 1.50%), 4.1% on a tranche of $24.0 million
(6-month LIBOR plus 1.50%) and 4.3% on a tranche of $15.0 million (6-month LIBOR plus 1.50%).

7. Stockholders’ Equity

Stock Repurchase Program

In July 2015, the Company’s board of directors approved a stock repurchase program (the “July 2015 program”), authorizing the repurchase, at the
discretion of the Company’s senior executives, of the Company’s common stock for an aggregate dollar limit not to exceed $150 million. Repurchases
under the program may take place in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions and may be made pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan. During
the three months ended November 24, 2018, the Company purchased 338,536 shares of its common stock on the open market at an average price of
$16.36 per share, for approximately $5.5 million, and during the six months ended November 24, 2018, the Company purchased 806,448 shares of its
common stock on the open market at an average price of $16.12 per share, for approximately $13.0 million. As of November 24, 2018, approximately
$107.0 million remained available for future repurchases of the Company’s common stock under the July 2015 program.

8. Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information

The following table presents information regarding income taxes paid, interest paid and non-cash investing and financing activities (amounts in
thousands):
 

   For the Six Months Ended  

   
November 24,

2018    
November 25,

2017  
Income taxes paid   $ 6,778   $ 6,248 

    

 

    

 

Interest paid   $ 1,227   $ 712 
    

 

    

 

Non-cash investing and financing activities:     
Capitalized leasehold improvements paid directly by landlord   $ 255   $ —   

Acquisition of taskforce:     
Issuance of common stock   $ —     $ 2,602 
Liability for contingent consideration   $ —     $ 6,514 

Dividends declared, not paid   $ 4,124   $ 3,663 
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9. Stock-Based Compensation Plans

Stock Options and Restricted Stock

The maximum number of shares of the Company’s common stock that may be issued or transferred pursuant to awards under the 2014 Plan equals
the sum of: (1) 2,400,000 shares, plus (2) the number of shares subject to stock options granted under the Resources Connection, Inc. 2004 Performance
Incentive Plan and the 1999 Long Term Incentive Plan (the “Prior Stock Plans”) and outstanding as of September 3, 2014 (the date at which the Prior
Stock Plans terminated), which expire, or for any reason are cancelled or terminated, after that date without being exercised, plus (3) the number of
shares subject to restricted stock, RSUs and other full-value awards granted under the Prior Stock Plans that were outstanding and unvested as of
September 3, 2014, which are forfeited, terminated, cancelled, or otherwise reacquired after that date without having become vested. As of
November 24, 2018, 1,359,000 shares were available for award grant purposes under the 2014 Plan, subject to future increases as described in (2) and
(3) above and subject to increase as then-outstanding awards expire or terminate without having become vested or exercised, as applicable.

Awards under the 2014 Plan may include, but are not limited to, stock options, RSUs and restricted stock grants. Stock option grants generally
vest in equal annual installments over four years and terminate ten years from the date of grant. Restricted stock award vesting is determined on an
individual grant basis. Awards of RSUs and restricted stock under the 2014 Plan will be counted against the available share limit as two and a half shares
for every one share actually issued in connection with the award. The Company’s policy is to issue shares from its authorized shares upon the exercise of
stock options.

The following table summarizes the stock option activity for the six months ended November 24, 2018 (number of shares under option and
aggregate intrinsic value in thousands):
 

   
Number of Shares

Under Option    

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price    

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Life
(in years)    

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value 

Outstanding at May 26, 2018    6,869   $ 15.10    5.50   $ 12,310 
Granted, at fair market value    1,290    18.96     
Exercised    (752)    13.85     
Forfeited    (128)    15.32     
Expired    (268)    19.41     

    
 

      

Outstanding at November 24, 2018    7,011   $ 15.78    6.09   $ 8,934 
    

 

      

 

    

 

Exercisable at November 24, 2018    4,405   $ 14.97    4.35   $ 7,988 
    

 

      

 

    

 

Vested and expected to vest at November 24, 2018    6,614   $ 15.64    5.88   $ 8,875 
    

 

      

 

    

 

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pretax intrinsic value, which is the difference between the Company’s closing
stock price on the last trading day of the second quarter of fiscal 2019 and the exercise price multiplied by the number of shares that would have been
received by the option holders if they had exercised their “in the money” options on November 24, 2018. This amount will change based on changes in
the fair market value of the Company’s common stock. The total pre-tax intrinsic value related to stock options exercised during the three months ended
November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017 was $2.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively, and during the six months ended November 24, 2018 and
November 25, 2017 was $3.1 million and $0.5 million, respectively.
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense

As of November 24, 2018, there was $10.5 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested employee stock options granted.
That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 38 months. Stock-based compensation expense included in selling, general and
administrative expenses was $1.7 million and $1.5 million for the three months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017, respectively, and
$3.0 million and $3.1 million for the six months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017, respectively. These amounts consisted of stock-
based compensation expense related to employee stock options employee stock purchases made via the ESPP and restricted stock awards. In addition,
commencing in the third quarter of fiscal 2018, stock-based compensation expense includes expense related to stock units credited under the Directors
Deferred Compensation Plan. For the three and six months ended November 24, 2018, this expense was $41,000 and $75,000, respectively. As of
November 24, 2018, there were 34,715 stock units not vested, with approximately $0.4 million of remaining unrecognized compensation cost. There
were no capitalized share-based compensation costs during the six months ended November 24, 2018 or November 25, 2017.

The Company granted no restricted stock during the six months ended November 24, 2018 and granted 79,810 shares of restricted stock during the
three and six months ended November 25, 2017. Stock-based compensation expense for existing restricted stock awards was $0.4 million and
$0.3 million for the three months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017, respectively, and $0.8 million and $0.6 million for the six months
ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017, respectively. As of November 24, 2018, there were 202,775 unvested restricted shares, with
approximately $2.3 million of remaining unrecognized compensation cost.

The Company recognizes compensation expense for only the portion of stock options and restricted stock that is expected to vest, rather than
recording forfeitures when they occur. If the actual number of forfeitures differs from that estimated by management, additional adjustments to
compensation expense may be required in future periods.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The ESPP allows qualified employees (as defined in the ESPP) to purchase designated shares of the Company’s common stock at a price equal to
85% of the lesser of the fair market value of common stock at the beginning or end of each semi-annual stock purchase period. The ESPP’s term expires
October 16, 2024. A total of 5,900,000 shares of common stock may be issued under the ESPP. The Company issued 166,000 and 338,000 shares of
common stock pursuant to the ESPP during the six months ended November 24, 2018 and the year ended May 26, 2018, respectively. There were
414,000 shares of common stock available for issuance under the ESPP as of November 24, 2018.

10. Segment Information and Enterprise Reporting

The Company discloses information regarding operations outside of the U.S. The Company operates as one segment. The accounting policies for
the domestic and international operations are the same as those described in Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 26, 2018. Summarized
information regarding the Company’s domestic and international operations is shown in the following table (amounts in thousands):
 
   

Revenue for the
Three Months Ended    

Revenue for the
Six Months Ended    Long-Lived Assets (1) as of  

   
November 24,

2018    
November 25,

2017    
November 24,

2018    
November 25,

2017    
November 24,

2018    
May 26,

2018  
United States   $ 148,901   $ 119,443   $ 290,130   $ 232,568   $ 198,573   $198,280 
International    39,898    37,295    77,227    65,356    32,815    34,614 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Total   $ 188,799   $ 156,738   $ 367,357   $ 297,924   $ 231,388   $232,894 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
(1) Long-lived assets are comprised of goodwill, intangible assets and property and equipment.

11. Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved in certain legal matters arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, all such matters, if
disposed of unfavorably, would not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, cash flows or results of operations.
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12. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting Pronouncements Adopted During Current Fiscal Year

Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting
Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, a comprehensive new revenue recognition standard that supersedes current revenue recognition guidance and is
intended to improve and converge revenue recognition and related financial reporting requirements. The core principle of this guidance is that an entity
should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Effective the beginning of fiscal year 2019 (May 27, 2018), the Company adopted
ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, using the modified retrospective method, which allows companies to apply the new revenue
standard to reporting periods beginning in the year the standard is first implemented, while prior periods continue to be reported in accordance with
previous accounting guidance. The adoption of ASC 606 did not have a significant impact on revenue recognition; therefore, the Company did not have
an opening retained earnings adjustment. See Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for additional information.

Intangibles — Goodwill and Other — Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a
Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract. In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, which aligns the requirements for
capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs
incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software license). An entity in a hosting
arrangement that is a service contract must determine which implementation costs to capitalize as an asset related to the service contract and which costs
to expense. Costs that cannot be capitalized include training costs, certain data conversion costs, costs incurred during preliminary project and post
implementation stages. Costs that are subject to evaluation for potential capitalization are incurred during the application development stage. The
guidance also specifies factors to consider when developing the period over which to amortize the capitalized costs once the arrangement is deployed for
usage by the entity and elements to consider in analyzing potential impairment of the asset.

The guidance is effective for financial statements for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019 (for the Company, fiscal 2021) and for
interim periods within those fiscal years. However, early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted this guidance prospectively in the first quarter of
fiscal 2019 as the Company has an initiative involving a cloud computing arrangement that is a service contract for its processing of payroll. The
initiative is now complete and the amount capitalized during fiscal 2019 was approximately $0.8 million and is accounted for in Other Assets in the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of Modification Accounting. In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, which
clarifies when changes to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award require an entity to apply modification accounting. Under the new
guidance, modification accounting is only required if the fair value, vesting conditions or classification (equity or liability) of the new award are
different from the original award immediately before the original award is modified. The new standard is effective for financial statements for annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and was adopted by the Company effective May 27, 2018. The guidance must be applied prospectively to
awards modified on or after the adoption date. The future impact of ASU 2017-09 will be dependent on the nature of future stock award modifications.

Accounting Pronouncements Pending Adoption

Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework — Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. In August
2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, which eliminates, adds and modifies certain fair value measurement disclosures. The ASU is effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019 (for the Company, fiscal 2021), including interim reporting periods within those annual periods,
with early adoption permitted. We do not expect the adoption of this standard to have a material impact to our consolidated financial statements and
related disclosures.

Intangibles — Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment. In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04,
which provides guidance regarding the goodwill impairment testing process. The new standard eliminates Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test. If a
company determines in Step 1 of the goodwill impairment test that the carrying value of goodwill is greater than the fair value, an impairment for that
difference must be recorded in the income statement, rather than proceeding to Step 2. The new standard is effective for financial statements for annual
periods beginning after December 15, 2019 (for the Company, fiscal 2021). Early adoption is permitted. Based on the Company’s most recent annual
goodwill impairment test completed in fiscal 2018, the Company expects no initial impact on adoption.

Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments. In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU
2016-13, which provides guidance on accounting for credit losses, including trade receivables. The guidance requires the application of a current
expected credit loss model, which measure credit losses based on relevant information about past events, including historical experience, current
conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. The guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019 (for the Company,
fiscal 2021). The guidance requires companies to apply the requirements using a modified retrospective approach. The Company is currently evaluating
the potential impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements and required disclosures.

Leases (Topic 842): Leases. In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, which amends the existing guidance to require lessees to recognize
operating lease obligations on their balance sheets by recording the rights and obligations created by those leases. The requirements are effective for
financial statements for annual periods and interim periods within those annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018 (for the Company, fiscal
2020). The FASB has also subsequently issued certain additional ASUs with clarifications and improvements of ASU 2016-02 which the Company will
consider during its implementation process. The Company is currently evaluating the impact ASU 2016-02 will have on its consolidated financial
statements and believes it will have a significant impact on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet assets and liabilities. Although the Company is
still completing its assessment of the effect on the Consolidated Statements of Operations, the Company does not currently believe the adoption will
have
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a material impact. The Company has completed a preliminary qualitative assessment of its lease portfolio and is in the process of implementing a new
lease software system and designing revised processes and controls to use such software to account for its leases in accordance with the new guidance.
Under current accounting guidelines, the Company’s office leases are operating lease arrangements, in which rental payments are treated as operating
expenses and there is no recognition of the arrangement on the balance sheet as an asset with the related obligation to the lessor as a liability.

Other recent accounting pronouncements issued by the FASB (including its Emerging Issues Task Force), the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the SEC did not, or are not expected to, have a material effect on the Company’s results of operations, financial position or cash
flows.

 
ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes. This discussion and analysis contains “forward-looking statements,” within the meaning of Section 27A
of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These statements relate to expectations
concerning matters that are not historical facts. Such forward-looking statements may be identified by words such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “can,”
“continue,” “could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “remain,” “should,” or “will” or the negative of these
terms or other comparable terminology. These statements, and all phases of our operations, are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other factors that could cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements and those of our industry to differ materially from those
expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. You are urged to review carefully the disclosures we make concerning risks, uncertainties and
other factors that may affect our business or operating results, including those identified in Part II, Item 1A, Risk Factors below and in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended May 26, 2018 (File No. 0-32113). Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we
currently deem immaterial may also affect our business or operating results. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking
statements included herein, which speak only as the date of this filing. We do not intend, and undertake no obligation, to update the forward-looking
statements in this filing to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this filing or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, unless required
by law to do so. References in this filing to “Resources Connection,” “RGP,” “Resources Global Professionals,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our”
refer to Resources Connection, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

Overview

RGP is a multinational business consulting firm that provides agile consulting services and talent to its global client base which is faced with
disruption, business transformation and compliance issues. We also bring functional competencies in the areas of accounting; finance; governance, risk
and compliance management; corporate advisory, strategic communications and restructuring; information management; human capital; supply chain
management; and legal and regulatory. We assist our clients with projects requiring specialized expertise or capacity in areas such as:
 

 
•  Finance and accounting including process transformation and optimization; financial reporting and analysis; technical and operational

accounting; merger and acquisition due diligence and integration; audit readiness, preparation and response; implementation of the
requirements of new accounting standards, such as revenue recognition and lease accounting; and remediation support

 

 
•  Information management including program and project management; business and technology integration; data strategy including

governance, security and privacy (such as the European General Data Protection Regulation); and business performance management (such
as core planning and consolidation systems)

 

 •  Corporate advisory, strategic communications, crisis communications and restructuring
 

 
•  Governance, risk and compliance management including governance; assessments; auditing and automation of programs managing

regulatory compliance such as Sarbanes; enterprise risk management; internal audits; operational risk management; and data security and
privacy services

 

 •  Supply chain management including strategy development; procurement and supplier management; logistics and materials management;
supply chain planning and forecasting; and Unique Device Identification compliance

 

 •  Human capital including change management; organization development and effectiveness; employment engagement; compensation and
incentive plan strategies and design and optimization of human resources technology and operations

 

 •  Legal and regulatory supporting commercial transactions; global compliance initiatives; law department operations; and law department
business strategy and analytics
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We were founded in June 1996 by a team at Deloitte, led by our chairman, Donald B. Murray, who was then a senior partner with Deloitte. Our
founders created Resources Connection to capitalize on the increasing demand for high quality outsourced professional services. We operated as a part
of Deloitte until April 1999. In April 1999, we completed a management-led buyout in partnership with several investors. In December 2000, we
completed our initial public offering of common stock and began trading on the Nasdaq Stock Market. We currently trade on the Nasdaq Global Select
Market under the ticker symbol “RECN”. We operate under the acronym RGP, branding for our operating entity name of Resources Global
Professionals.

We operated solely in the United States (“U.S.”) until fiscal year 2000, when we opened our first three international offices and began to expand
geographically to meet the demand for project consulting services across the world. As of November 24, 2018, we served clients from offices in 21
countries, including 26 international offices and 48 offices in the United States. Our world-wide footprint allows the Company to support the global
initiatives of our multinational client base.

The Company announced certain strategic initiatives in April 2017. The first initiative focused on cultivating a more sophisticated and robust sales
culture. The Company has now completed this initiative. Among the features of the initiative are enhanced training activities; the alignment of the
Company’s sales process using tools such as Salesforce.com and the establishment of an enterprise-wide business development function; and the current
year initiation of a new incentive compensation program for individuals focused on profitable revenue generation and gross margin. The new incentive
compensation program rewards individuals for achieving or exceeding pre-determined sales goals, with bonus multipliers applicable for exceeding
goals; the rewards for sales achievement are tied to both gross margin goals and qualitative goals associated with the Company’s culture of “LIFE AT
RGP”. Finally, to complete this initiative, the Company expanded its Strategic Client Program, which involves a dedicated account team for certain high
profile clients with world-wide operations.

The Company is close to completing its second initiative to redesign the Company’s business model to enhance its client offerings, with a focus on
building its integrated solutions capabilities and delivering multi-disciplinary offerings to its clients in three areas of focus –Transaction Services,
Technical Accounting Services, and Data & Analytics. During fiscal 2018, the Company implemented the new operating model for sales, talent and
integrated solutions within RGP for all of North America; that is, reporting relationships are now largely defined by functional area rather than on an
office location basis. We believe this effort has already delivered improved revenue growth and improved customer experience into fiscal 2019. The
rollout of the operating model will continue in Europe and Asia Pacific during the current fiscal year.

The third initiative focuses on cost containment. Goals of this initiative include (i) improving leverage of selling, general and administrative
expenses (“S, G & A”) as a percentage of revenue and (ii) realizing cost synergies in the core business and with the Accretive acquisition. S, G & A as a
percentage of revenue decreased to 29.1% in the second quarter of fiscal 2019 as compared to the first quarter’s 31.6%; RGP remains committed to
managing its cost structure to achieve improved S, G & A performance as measured against revenue throughout fiscal 2019.

During fiscal 2018, the Company completed two acquisitions. The first acquisition, completed August 31, 2017 (the second quarter of fiscal
2018), was of taskforce – Management on Demand AG (“taskforce”), a German based professional services firm founded in 2007, that provides clients
with senior interim management and project management expertise. The Company paid initial consideration of €5.8 million (approximately $6.9 million
at the date of acquisition) in a combination of cash and restricted stock.

In addition, the purchase agreement for taskforce requires additional earn-out payments to be made based on performance in calendar years 2017,
2018 and 2019. Under accounting rules for business combinations, obligations that are contingently payable to the sellers based upon the occurrence of
one or more future events are recorded as a discounted liability on the Company’s balance sheet. The Company is obligated to pay the sellers in Euros as
follows: for calendar year 2017, Adjusted EBITDA times 6.1 times 20%; and for both calendar years 2018 and 2019, Adjusted EBITDA times 6.1 times
15%; (Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as defined in the purchase agreement). The payment for calendar 2017 of €2.1 million was made March 28, 2018.
The Company estimated the fair value of the obligation to pay the remaining contingent consideration for calendar years 2018 and 2019 based on a
number of different projections of the estimated Adjusted EBITDA for each such years. The Company recorded this future obligation using a discount
rate of approximately 11.0%, representing the Company’s weighted average cost of capital. The current estimated fair value of the contractual obligation
to pay the contingent consideration for calendar years 2018 and 2019 totals €3.9 million (approximately $4.4 million based on the exchange rate on the
last day of the second quarter of fiscal 2019) as of November 24, 2018. Each reporting period, the Company will estimate changes in the fair value of
contingent consideration and any change in fair value will be recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. The estimate of fair
value of contingent consideration requires very subjective assumptions to be made of various potential Adjusted EBITDA results and discount rates.
Future revisions to these assumptions could materially change the estimate of the fair value of contingent consideration and therefore could materially
affect the Company’s future operating results. During the three and six months ended November 24, 2018, the Company decreased the estimated
contingent consideration by €114,000 ($130,000) and €30,000 ($33,000), respectively, and also recognized accretion expense on the discounted liability.
These amounts are included in S, G & A for the respective periods. Results of operations of taskforce are included in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations from the date of acquisition.
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The second acquisition occurred December 4, 2017 (the third quarter of fiscal 2018) when the Company acquired substantially all of the assets
and assumed certain liabilities of Accretive Solutions, Inc. (“Accretive”). Accretive was a professional services firm that provided expertise in
accounting and finance, enterprise governance, business technology and business transformation solutions to a wide variety of organizations in the U.S.
and supported startups through its Countsy suite of back office services. The Company paid consideration of $20.0 million in cash and issued 1,072,000
shares of Resources Connection, Inc. common stock restricted for sale for four years; additional cash and shares of Company stock will be due after
settlement of working capital adjustments. In addition, additional amounts may be paid to the sellers at the end of a certain period of time if there are no
claims or may be used to satisfy any preacquisition claims in favor of the buyers. As of the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2019, the amounts due
based on initial estimates of the resolution of these items are estimated at $0.1 million in cash and 108,000 in additional shares of common stock and are
accrued as a liability on the balance sheet as of November 24, 2018. The Company completed its integration of the operations of Accretive into its
business model as of the first day of fiscal 2019 and thus the Company is unable to estimate the impact of additional revenue attributable to the
Accretive acquisition during fiscal 2019.

Critical Accounting Policies

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our Consolidated Financial Statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”). The preparation of these
financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

The following represents a summary of our critical accounting policies, defined as those policies we believe: (a) are the most important to the
portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and (b) involve inherently uncertain issues that require management’s most difficult,
subjective or complex judgments. The Company’s accounting policies were revised in connection with the adoption of ASC 606 (described further in
Note 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in Part I, Item 1, of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q). There have been no material changes in
our critical accounting policies, or in the estimates and assumptions underlying those policies, from those described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended May 26, 2018.

Revenue recognition — Revenues are recognized when control of the promised service is transferred to our clients, in an amount that reflects the
consideration expected in exchange for the services. Revenue is recorded net of sales or other transaction taxes collected from clients and remitted to
taxing authorities. Revenues from contracts are recognized over time, based on hours worked by the Company’s professionals. The performance of the
agreed-to service over time is the single performance obligation for revenues. Certain clients may receive discounts (for example, volume discounts or
rebates) to the amounts billed. These discounts or rebates are considered variable consideration. Management evaluates the facts and circumstances of
each contract and client relationship to estimate the variable consideration assessing the most likely amount to recognize and considering management’s
expectation of the volume of services to be provided over the applicable period. Rebates are the largest component of variable consideration and are
estimated using the most likely amount method prescribed by Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606, contracts terms and estimates of
revenue. Revenues are recognized net of variable consideration to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal of revenues will not occur in
subsequent periods.

Valuation of long-lived assets — We assess the potential impairment of long-lived tangible and intangible assets periodically or whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable. Identifiable intangibles assets are amortized over their lives, typically
ranging from three to ten years. Goodwill is not subject to amortization. This asset is considered to have an indefinite life and its carrying value is
required to be assessed by us for impairment at least annually. Depending on future market values of our stock, our operating performance and other
factors, these assessments could potentially result in impairment reductions of this intangible asset in the future and this adjustment may materially
affect the Company’s future financial results and financial condition.

Allowance for doubtful accounts — We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from our clients failing to make
required payments for services rendered. We estimate this allowance based upon our knowledge of the financial condition of our clients (which may not
include knowledge of all significant events), review of historical receivable and reserve trends and other pertinent information. While such losses have
historically been within our expectations and the provisions established, we cannot guarantee we will continue to experience the same credit loss rates
we have in the past. A significant change in the liquidity or financial position of our clients could cause unfavorable trends in receivable collections and
additional allowances may be required. These additional allowances could materially affect the Company’s future financial results.

Income taxes — In order to prepare our Consolidated Financial Statements, we are required to make estimates of income taxes, if applicable, in
each jurisdiction in which we operate. The process incorporates an assessment of any current tax exposure together with temporary differences resulting
from different treatment of transactions for tax and financial statement purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities that are
included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The recovery of deferred tax assets from future taxable income must be assessed and, to the extent
recovery is not likely, we will establish a valuation allowance. An increase in the valuation allowance results in recording additional tax expense and any
such adjustment may materially affect the Company’s future financial results. If the ultimate tax liability differs from the amount of tax expense we have
reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, an adjustment of tax expense may need to be recorded and this adjustment may materially affect
the Company’s future financial results and financial condition.
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Stock-based compensation — Under our 2014 Performance Incentive Plan, officers, employees, and outside directors have received or may
receive grants of restricted stock, stock units, options to purchase common stock or other stock or stock-based awards. Under our Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”), eligible officers and employees may purchase our common stock in accordance with the terms of the plan.

The Company estimates a value for employee stock options on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. We have elected to use the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model which takes into account assumptions regarding a number of highly complex and subjective variables. These variables
include the expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards and actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors. Additional
variables to be considered are the expected term, expected dividends and the risk-free interest rate over the expected term of our employee stock options.
In addition, because stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations is based on awards ultimately expected
to vest, it is reduced for estimated forfeitures. Forfeitures must be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. Forfeitures are estimated based on historical experience. If facts and circumstances change and we employ
different assumptions in future periods, the compensation expense recorded may differ materially from the amount recorded in the current period.

The Company uses its historical volatility over the expected life of the stock option award to estimate the expected volatility of the price of its
common stock. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based upon observed interest rates appropriate for the term of our employee stock options. The
impact of expected dividends ($0.13 per share in the first and second quarters of fiscal 2019 and $0.12 per share in each quarter of fiscal 2018) is also
incorporated in determining the estimated value per share of employee stock option grants. Such dividends are subject to quarterly board of director
approval. The Company’s expected life of stock option grants is 5.7 years for non-officers and 8.2 years for officers. The Company uses its historical
volatility over the expected life of the stock option award to estimate the expected volatility of the price of its common stock. The Company reviews the
underlying assumptions related to stock-based compensation at least annually.

We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates
under different assumptions or conditions.

Results of Operations

The following tables set forth, for the periods indicated, our Consolidated Statements of Operations data. These historical results are not
necessarily indicative of future results.
 

   Three Months Ended    Six Months Ended  

   
November 24,

2018    
November 25,

2017    
November 24,

2018    
November 25,

2017  
   (Amounts in thousands)    (Amounts in thousands)  
Revenue   $ 188,799   $ 156,738   $ 367,357   $ 297,924 
Direct cost of services    115,378    97,319    225,785    184,807 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Gross margin    73,421    59,419    141,572    113,117 
Selling, general and administrative expenses    54,959    47,498    111,325    94,913 
Amortization of intangible assets    952    322    1,907    322 
Depreciation expense    1,197    947    2,266    1,887 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Income from operations    16,313    10,652    26,074    15,995 
Interest expense    642    397    1,247    734 
Interest income    (34)    (32)    (113)    (60) 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Income before provision for income taxes    15,705    10,287    24,940    15,321 
Provision for income taxes    5,141    2,149    8,635    5,071 

    
 

    
 

    
 

    
 

Net income   $ 10,564   $ 8,138   $ 16,305   $ 10,250 
    

 

    

 

    

 

    

 

 
20



Table of Contents

We also assess the results of our operations using EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin. EBITDA is defined as earnings
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. We define Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA plus stock-based compensation expense plus or minus
contingent consideration adjustments. Adjusted EBITDA Margin is calculated by dividing Adjusted EBITDA by revenue. These measures assist
management in assessing our core operating performance and the Company believes they are also useful to investors as an alternative measure of our
operating performance. The following table presents EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin for the periods indicated and includes
a reconciliation of such measures to net income, the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure:
 

   Three Months Ended   Six Months Ended  

   
November 24,

2018   
November 25,

2017   
November 24,

2018   
November 25,

2017  
   (Amounts in thousands)   (Amounts in thousands)  
Net income   $ 10,564  $ 8,138  $ 16,305  $ 10,250 
Adjustments:      
Amortization of intangible assets    952   322   1,907   322 
Depreciation expense    1,197   947   2,266   1,887 
Interest expense    642   397   1,247   734 
Interest income    (34)   (32)   (113)   (60) 
Provision for income taxes    5,141   2,149   8,635   5,071 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

EBITDA    18,462   11,921   30,247   18,204 
Stock-based compensation expense    1,652   1,450   3,013   3,062 
Contingent consideration adjustment    (130)   —     (33)   —   

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

Adjusted EBITDA   $ 19,984  $ 13,371  $ 33,227  $ 21,266 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Revenue   $ 188,799  $ 156,738  $ 367,357  $ 297,924 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

Adjusted EBITDA Margin    10.6%   8.5%   9.0%   7.1% 
    

 

   

 

   

 

   

 

The financial measures and key performance indicators we use to assess our financial and operating performance above are not defined by, or
calculated in accordance with, GAAP. A non-GAAP financial measure is defined as a numerical measure of a company’s financial performance that
(i) excludes amounts, or is subject to adjustments that have the effect of excluding amounts, that are included in the comparable measure calculated and
presented in accordance with GAAP in the Consolidated Statements of Operations; or (ii) includes amounts, or is subject to adjustments that have the
effect of including amounts, that are excluded from the comparable measure so calculated and presented.

EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin are non-GAAP financial measures. We believe EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA Margin, which are used by management to assess the core performance of our Company, provide useful information to our investors
because they are alternative financial measures investors can also use to assess the core performance of the Company and compare it to the Company’s
peers. EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin are not measurements of financial performance or liquidity under GAAP and should
not be considered in isolation or construed as substitutes for net income or other cash flow data prepared in accordance with GAAP for purposes of
analyzing our profitability or liquidity. These measures should be considered in addition to, and not as a substitute for, net income, earnings per share,
cash flows or other measures of financial performance prepared in conformity with GAAP.

Further, EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin have the following limitations:
 

 •  Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in
the future and EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements;

 

 •  Stock-based compensation is an element of our long-term incentive compensation program, although we exclude it as an expense from
Adjusted EBITDA when evaluating our ongoing operating performance for a particular period; and

 

 •  Other companies in our industry may calculate Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin differently than we do, limiting their
usefulness as comparative measures.

Due to these limitations, EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin should not be considered a substitute for performance
measures calculated in accordance with GAAP.
 

21



Table of Contents

Three Months Ended November 24, 2018 Compared to Three Months Ended November 25, 2017

Percentage change computations are based upon amounts in thousands.

Revenue. Revenue increased $32.1 million, or 20.5%, to $188.8 million for the three months ended November 24, 2018 from $156.7 million for
the three months ended November 25, 2017. On a constant currency basis, revenue increased 21.3%. Revenue in the second quarter of fiscal 2019
includes revenue in North America attributable to historic clients of Accretive but it is not possible to isolate this revenue due to the completion of the
integration of Accretive operations into RGP at the beginning of the first quarter of fiscal 2019. Accretive was acquired in the third quarter of fiscal
2018.

We deliver our services to clients, whether multi-national or locally based, in a similar fashion across the globe. Bill rates improved 0.8% (the
same on a constant currency basis) and hours worked increased 19.6% between the two periods. We believe the improvement in revenue for the current
quarter as compared to the prior year quarter is in part the product of the operational changes made throughout fiscal 2018, including the usage of
Salesforce as a tool to measure individual productivity directly and structuring reporting lines with a function. In addition, we believe a portion of the
revenue growth is attributable to client service and technical teams spending more time interacting with clients and prospects, improved alignment of
our incentive systems to sales growth and increased sales efforts delivered by a focused business development team. Also in this current quarter, the
Company’s financial service industry revenue exceeded the prior year and sequential quarters’ revenue, reversing a downward trend noted in previous
quarters.

As presented in the table below, revenue increased in the second quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to the same quarter of fiscal 2018 in North
America, Europe and Asia Pacific (dollars in thousands):
 
   

Revenue for the
Three Months Ended       % of Total  

   
November 24,

2018    
November 25,

2017    
%

Change  
November 24,

2018   
November 25,

2017  
North America   $ 153,823   $ 122,458    25.6%   81.5%   78.1% 
Europe    23,163    22,961    0.9%   12.3   14.7 
Asia Pacific    11,813    11,319    4.4%   6.2   7.2 

    
 

    
 

     
 

   
 

Total   $ 188,799   $ 156,738    20.5%   100.0%   100.0% 
    

 

    

 

     

 

   

 

A significant portion of the increase in North America is attributable to the Accretive acquisition but the integration of Accretive operations into
RGP’s existing North American operations prevents a specific analysis of the contribution of such operations.

Our financial results are subject to fluctuations in the exchange rates of foreign currencies in relation to the United States dollar (“U.S. dollar”).
Revenues denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at the monthly average exchange rates in effect during each period. Thus, as
the value of the U.S. dollar strengthens relative to the currencies of our non-United States based operations, our translated revenue (and expenses) will
be lower; conversely, if the value of the U.S. dollar weakens relative to the currencies of our non-United States based operations, our translated revenue
(and expenses) will be higher. Using the comparable fiscal 2018 second quarter conversion rates, international revenues would have been higher than
reported under GAAP by approximately $1.3 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2019. Using these constant currency rates, which we believe
provides a more comprehensive view of trends in our business, our revenue increased in North America, Europe and Asia Pacific by 25.8%, 4.2% and
7.4%, respectively.

The number of consultants on assignment as of November 24, 2018 was 3,389 compared to 2,746 consultants engaged as of November 25, 2017.
With the integration of Accretive into RGP daily operations, we are unable to attribute a specific portion of the increase in headcount from the prior year
quarter to that acquisition.

We operated 74 (26 abroad) offices as of November 24, 2018 and 69 (26 abroad) as of November 25, 2017. The change between the two years is
the result of the addition of five offices acquired in the Accretive transaction.

Our clients do not sign long-term contracts with us. As such, there can be no assurance as to future demand levels for the services we provide or
that future results can be reliably predicted by considering past trends.

Direct Cost of Services. Direct cost of services increased $18.1 million, or 18.6%, to $115.4 million for the three months ended November 24,
2018 from $97.3 million for the three months ended November 25, 2017. On a constant currency basis, direct cost of services increased 20.0%. The
primary reason for the change is that hours worked increased 19.6% between the two quarters (partially attributable to the Accretive acquisition); the
average consultant pay rate per hour did not change between the two periods (and was the same on a constant currency basis).

Direct cost of services as a percentage of revenue was 61.1% and 62.1% for the three months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017,
respectively. The direct cost of services as a percentage of revenue improved in the current quarter primarily because of improvement in the bill/pay
ratio and in the cost of the Company’s self-insured medical program as compared to the prior year period.
 

22



Table of Contents

Our target direct cost of services percentage is 60% in all of our markets.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. S, G & A as a percentage of revenue was 29.1% and 30.3% for the quarters ended November 24,
2018 and November 25, 2017, respectively. S, G & A increased to $55.0 million for the second quarter of fiscal 2019 from $47.5 million for the same
period in the prior year primarily because we added S, G & A tied to the operations of the Accretive acquisition (now integrated with the operations of
RGP). More specifically, the year over year increase is primarily attributable to: 1) $3.9 million of additional payroll and benefit costs from taskforce
personnel, legacy Accretive personnel and new headcount to support the growth of critical markets; 2) $3.0 million related to increased commission and
bonus expenses tied to the revenue growth of the business; 3) $0.8 million of marketing costs associated with driving revenue growth; and 4) increases
of $0.6 million in rent and other categories; these costs were partially offset by net lower severance and acquisition costs of $0.8 million incurred in the
prior year quarter.

Management and administrative headcount was 912 at the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2019 and 783 at the end of the second quarter of
fiscal 2018.

Sequential Operations. On a sequential quarter basis, fiscal 2019 second quarter revenues increased approximately 5.7% (6.0% constant
currency), from $178.6 million to $188.8 million. We believe a portion of the growth is attributable to continuing improvement in: time spent by client
service and technical teams with clients and prospects; alignment of our incentive systems to sales growth; and sales efforts delivered by a focused
business development team. We believe second quarter revenue increased also in part because consultants typically use fewer vacation hours during the
second quarter compared to the first quarter, which includes the traditional summer vacation period. Hours worked during the second quarter increased
6.1% from the first quarter while average bill rates remained the same between the two quarters. The Company’s sequential revenue increased in North
America (5.2%), Europe (12.0%) and Asia Pacific (0.9%). On a constant currency basis, using the comparable first quarter fiscal 2019 conversion rates,
sequential revenue improved in North America (5.2%), Europe (13.1%) and Asia Pacific (3.2%).

Direct cost of services as a percentage of revenue was 61.1% and 61.8% in the second and first quarters of fiscal 2019, respectively; the improved
direct cost of services percentage in the second quarter is primarily the result of the decrease in the amount of Company payroll tax expense experienced
toward the end of the calendar year.

S, G & A as a percent of revenue was 29.1% for the second quarter of fiscal 2019 compared to 31.6% for the first quarter of fiscal 2019. Spend in
the second quarter decreased $1.4 million to $55.0 million from $56.4 million in the previous quarter. The primary reasons for the change were lower
benefit costs of $1.7 million, primarily related to payroll tax obligations that reduce as the calendar year nears its end; lower transformation expenses of
$0.8 million; and lower spend in various other categories of $0.9 million partially offset by severance expenses of $0.9 million and increased
commission and bonus expenses tied to the revenue growth of the business of $1.1 million.

Amortization and Depreciation Expense. Amortization of intangible assets was $1.0 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2019 as a result of
amortization related to identifiable intangible assets acquired in the December 2017 acquisition of Accretive and September 2017 acquisition of
taskforce. Those assets identified based upon the allocation of purchase price of Accretive include: $12.7 million for customer relationships (amortized
over eight years) and $2.5 million for tradenames (amortized over three years); and for taskforce, $1.9 million for customer relationships (amortized
over 3 years), $2.0 million for tradenames (amortized over 10 years), $0.8 million for the database of potential consultants (amortized over 3 years) and
$1.0 million for non-competition agreements (amortized over 3 years). Amortization expense in the second quarter of fiscal 2018 was $0.3 million,
reflecting the acquisition of identifiable intangible assets of taskforce during that quarter.

Depreciation expense was $1.2 million and $0.9 million in the second quarter of fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase is primarily the
result of depreciation on fixed assets acquired in the purchase of Accretive.

Interest Expense. Interest expense for the second quarter of fiscal 2019 was approximately $0.6 million compared to $0.4 million in the same
period of fiscal 2018. The increase in the 2019 second quarter expense is the result of interest on incremental borrowings of $15.0 million to finance a
portion of the acquisition of Accretive and generally higher interest rates. As of November 24, 2018, the interest rates on the Company’s borrowings
were 4.0% on a tranche of $19.0 million (6-month LIBOR plus 1.50%), 4.1% on a tranche of $24.0 million (6-month LIBOR plus 1.50%) and 4.3% on a
tranche of $15.0 million (6-month LIBOR plus 1.50%).

Income Taxes. On December 22, 2017, Congress enacted H.R.1, the “Tax Cuts and Jobs Act” (“Tax Reform Act”), which made significant
changes to U.S. federal income tax laws including reducing the corporate rate from 35% to 21% effective January 1, 2018. In December 2017, the SEC
issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 which allows the Company to record provisional amounts related to the impact of the Tax Reform Act and
adjust those amounts during a measurement period not to extend more than one year from date of enactment.
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The Tax Reform Act also includes the Global Intangible Low-Tax Income (“GILTI”) provision, a new mechanism for taxing certain foreign
profits, the Base Erosion Anti-Abuse Tax, a minimum tax on payments to related parties, and the Foreign-Derived Intangible Income provision, a tax
incentive to earn income abroad. The Company is permitted to make an accounting policy election to account for GILTI as either a period charge when
the tax arises or as a part of deferred taxes. Due to the complexity of the GILTI provisions, the Company is still evaluating the impacts on future periods
and has not yet elected an accounting policy regarding GILTI. The Company has recognized provisional tax impacts associated with GILTI as a current
expense for the three months ended November 24, 2018.

The Company’s provision for income taxes was $5.1 million (effective tax rate of approximately 33%) and $2.1 million (effective tax rate of
approximately 21%) for the three months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017, respectively. The Company records tax expense based
upon an actual effective tax rate versus a forecasted tax rate because of the volatility in its international operations that span numerous tax jurisdictions.

The provision for income taxes in the three months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017 results from taxes on income in the U.S.
and certain other foreign jurisdictions, no benefit for losses in jurisdictions in which a full valuation allowance on operating loss carryforwards had
previously been established and a lower benefit for losses in certain foreign jurisdictions with tax rates lower than the U.S. statutory rates. The provision
for income taxes increased for the three months ended November 24, 2018 compared to the prior year quarter because of improved global income. Also
in the prior year quarter, the Company reversed $2.4 million of valuation allowances that offset deferred tax assets of certain foreign entities; there was
no reversal in the current year quarter. Although the current quarter effective rate is positively impacted by the reduced US tax rate, the effective rate
increased from the three months ended November 26, 2017 primarily due to the favorable impact of the valuation allowance reversal benefit in the prior
year quarter.

The Company recognized tax benefit of approximately $0.1 million and $0.2 million related to stock-based compensation for nonqualified stock
options expensed and for disqualifying dispositions under the ESPP during the second quarter of fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Periodically, the Company reviews the components of both book and taxable income to analyze the adequacy of the tax provision. There can be no
assurance that the Company’s effective tax rate will remain constant in the future because of the lower benefit from the United States statutory rate for
losses in certain foreign jurisdictions, the limitation on the benefit for losses in jurisdictions in which a valuation allowance for operating loss
carryforwards has previously been established, and the unpredictability of timing and the amount of eligible disqualifying incentive stock options
exercises.

Comparability of Quarterly Results. Our quarterly results have fluctuated in the past and we believe they will continue to do so in the future.
Certain factors that could affect our quarterly operating results are described in Part II, Item 1A.—Risk Factors. Due to these and other factors, we
believe quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our results of operations may not be meaningful indicators of future performance.

Six Months Ended November 24, 2018 Compared to Six Months Ended November 25, 2017

Percentage change computations are based upon amounts in thousands.

Revenue. Revenue increased $69.5 million, or 23.3%, to $367.4 million for the six months ended November 24, 2018 from $297.9 million for the
six months ended November 25, 2017. On a constant currency basis, revenue increased 23.8%. Revenue in the first half of fiscal 2019 includes revenue
in North America attributable to historic clients of Accretive but it is not possible to isolate this revenue due to the completion of the integration of
Accretive operations into RGP at the beginning of the first quarter of fiscal 2019. Accretive was acquired in the third quarter of fiscal 2018. Bill rates
improved 1.6% and hours worked increased 21.5% between the two periods; a significant portion of the increase in hours is due to the Accretive and
taskforce acquisitions.

We believe the improvement in revenue for the current period compared to the prior year period is in part the product of the operational changes
made throughout fiscal 2018, including the usage of Salesforce as a tool to measure individual productivity directly and structuring reporting lines with
a function and client focus. In addition, we believe a portion of the revenue growth is attributable to client service and technical teams spending more
time interacting with clients and prospects, improved alignment of our incentive systems to sales growth and increased sales efforts delivered by a
focused business development team. Also in the current six month period , the Company’s financial service industry revenue exceeded the prior year
comparable period’s revenue, reversing a downward trend noted in previous periods.
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As presented in the table below, revenue increased in the first six months of fiscal 2019 compared to the same period of fiscal 2018 in North
America, Europe and Asia Pacific (dollars in thousands):
 
   

Revenue for the Six Months
Ended       % of Total  

   
November 24,

2018    
November 25,

2017    
%

Change  
November 24,

2018   
November 25,

2017  
North America   $ 299,994   $ 238,395    25.8%   81.7%   80.0% 
Europe    43,847    38,110    15.1%   11.9   12.8 
Asia Pacific    23,516    21,419    9.8%   6.4   7.2 

    
 

    
 

     
 

   
 

Total   $ 367,357   $ 297,924    23.3%   100.0%   100.0% 
    

 

    

 

     

 

   

 

Our financial results are subject to fluctuations in the exchange rates of foreign currencies in relation to the U.S. dollar. Revenues denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at the monthly average exchange rates in effect during each period. Thus, as the value of the U.S.
dollar strengthens relative to the currencies of our non-United States based operations, our translated revenue (and expenses) will be lower; conversely,
if the value of the U.S. dollar weakens relative to the currencies of our non-United States based operations, our translated revenue (and expenses) will be
higher. Using the conversion rates of the comparable fiscal 2018 period, international revenues would have been higher than reported under GAAP by
approximately $1.5 million in the first half of fiscal 2019. Using these constant currency rates, which we believe provides a more comprehensive view
of trends in our business, our revenue increased in North America, Europe and Asia Pacific by 26.1%, 16.8% and 11.5%, respectively.

Direct Cost of Services. Direct cost of services increased $41.0 million, or 22.2%, to $225.8 million for the six months ended November 24, 2018
from $184.8 million for the six months ended November 25, 2017. On a constant currency basis, direct cost of services increased 23.8%. The primary
reason for the change is an increase in hours worked of 21.5% between the two quarters (partially attributable to the Accretive and taskforce
acquisitions), and an increase in the average consultant pay rate per hour of 1.6%.

Direct cost of services as a percentage of revenue was 61.5% and 62.0% for the six months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017,
respectively. The direct cost of services as a percentage of revenue improved slightly in the current quarter primarily because an increase in the bill/pay
ratio was offset by a reduction in claims in the Company’s self-insured medical program as compared to the prior year.

Our target direct cost of services percentage is 60% in all of our markets.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. S, G & A as a percentage of revenue was 30.3% and 31.9% for the six months ended
November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017, respectively. S, G & A increased to $111.3 million for the first half of fiscal 2019 from $94.9 million for
the same period in the prior year for the following primary reasons: we added S, G & A tied to the operations of the Accretive acquisition (now
integrated with the operations of RGP) and the taskforce acquisition (which operates as a separate brand). More specifically, the year over year increase
is primarily attributable to: 1) $10.5 million of additional payroll and benefit costs from taskforce personnel, legacy Accretive personnel and new
headcount to support the growth of critical markets; 2) $5.6 million related to increased commission and bonus expenses tied to the revenue growth of
the business; 3) $1.6 million of marketing costs associated with driving revenue growth; and 4) increases of $1.8 million in rent, bad debt and other
categories; these costs were offset by lower severance and acquisition, transformation and integration costs of $3.1 million incurred in the prior year
quarter.

Amortization and Depreciation Expense. Amortization of intangible assets was $1.9 million in the first half of fiscal 2019 as a result of
amortization related to identifiable intangible assets acquired in the December 2017 acquisition of Accretive and September 2017 acquisition of
taskforce. Amortization expense in the equivalent prior year period was $0.3 million reflecting the acquisition of identifiable intangible assets of
taskforce during that period.

Depreciation expense was $2.3 million and $1.9 million in the first half of fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively. The increase is primarily the result
of depreciation on fixed assets acquired in the purchase of Accretive.

Interest Expense. Interest expense for the first half of fiscal 2019 was approximately $1.2 million compared to $0.7 million in the same period of
fiscal 2018. The increase in the 2019 period is the result of interest on incremental borrowings of $15.0 million to finance a portion of the acquisition of
Accretive and generally higher interest rates.

Income Taxes. The Company’s provision for income taxes was $8.6 million (effective tax rate of approximately 35%) and $5.1 million (effective
tax rate of approximately 33%) for the six months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017, respectively. The Company records tax expense
based upon an actual effective tax rate versus a forecasted tax rate because of the volatility in its international operations that span numerous tax
jurisdictions.
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The provision for income taxes for the six months ended November 24, 2018 and November 25, 2017 results from taxes on income in the U.S.
and certain other foreign jurisdictions, no benefit for losses in jurisdictions in which a full valuation allowance on operating loss carryforwards had
previously been established and a lower benefit for losses in certain foreign jurisdictions with tax rates lower than the U.S. statutory rates. The provision
for income taxes increased for the six months ended November 24, 2018 compared to the prior year period because of improved global income. Also in
the prior year period, the Company reversed $2.4 million of valuation allowances that offset deferred tax assets of certain foreign entities; there was no
reversal in the current year comparable period. Although the current period effective rate is positively impacted by the reduced US tax rate, the effective
rate increased from the six months ended November 25, 2017 primarily due to the valuation allowance reversal benefit.

The Company recognized tax benefit of approximately $0.1 million $0.6 million related to stock-based compensation for nonqualified stock
options expensed and for disqualifying dispositions under the ESPP during the first half of fiscal 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary source of liquidity is cash provided by our operations and ability to access our $120 million secured revolving credit facility
(“Facility”) with Bank of America and, historically, to a lesser extent, stock option exercises and ESPP purchases. On an annual basis, we have
generated positive cash flows from operations since inception, and we continued to do so for the year ended May 26, 2018. Our ability to generate
positive cash flow from operations in the future will be, at least in part, dependent on continued stable global economic conditions. As of November 24,
2018, the Company had $40.8 million of cash and cash equivalents including $16.8 million held in international operations.

In October 2016, we entered into a $120 million Facility with Bank of America. The Facility is available for working capital and general corporate
purposes, including potential acquisitions and stock repurchases. The Facility allows the Company to choose the interest rate applicable to advances.
Borrowings under the Facility bear interest at a rate per annum of either, at the Company’s option, (i) LIBOR plus a margin of 1.25% or 1.50% or (ii) an
alternate base rate, plus margin of 0.25% or 0.50% with the applicable margin depending on the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio. The alternate
base rate is the highest of (i) Bank of America’s prime rate, (ii) the federal funds rate plus 0.50% and (iii) the Eurodollar rate plus 1.0%. The Company
pays an unused commitment fee on the average daily unused portion of the Facility at a rate of 0.15% to 0.25% depending upon on the Company’s
consolidated leverage ratio. The Facility expires October 17, 2021. Additional information regarding the Facility is included in Note 6 – Long Term Debt
in the Company’s Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the three and six months ended November 24, 2018.

As of November 24, 2018, the Company had borrowings of approximately $58.0 million under the Facility and directed Bank of America to issue
approximately $1.3 million of outstanding letters of credit for the benefit of third parties related to operating leases and guarantees. As of November 24,
2018 the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants in the Facility.

Our ongoing operations and anticipated growth in the geographic markets we currently serve will require us to continue to make investments in
office premises and capital equipment, primarily technology hardware and software. In addition, we may consider making strategic acquisitions. We
currently believe that our current cash, ongoing cash flows from our operations and funding available under our Facility will be adequate to meet our
working capital and capital expenditure needs for at least the next 12 months. If we require additional capital resources to grow our business, either
internally or through acquisition, we may seek to sell additional equity securities or to increase use of our Facility. In addition, if we decide to make
additional share repurchases, we may fund these through existing cash balances or use of our Facility. The sale of additional equity securities or certain
forms of debt financing could result in additional dilution to our stockholders. We may not be able to obtain financing arrangements in amounts or on
terms acceptable to us in the future. In the event we are unable to obtain additional financing when needed, we may be compelled to delay or curtail our
plans to develop our business or to pay dividends on our capital stock, which could have a material adverse effect on our operations, market position and
competitiveness.

Operating Activities

Operating activities for the six months ended November 24, 2018 provided cash of $1.7 million compared to $1.6 million for the six months ended
November 25, 2017. Cash used in operations in the first six months of fiscal 2019 resulted from net income of $16.3 million and non-cash items of
$12.3 million. These amounts were offset by net unfavorable changes in operating assets and liabilities of $27.0 million due primarily to the increase in
the balance of accounts receivable as of the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2019 reflecting increasing revenue during the first half of the fiscal year.
In the first six months of fiscal 2018, cash provided by operations resulted from net income of $10.3 million and non-cash items of $4.7 million,
partially offset by net unfavorable changes in operating assets and liabilities of $13.3 million. The primary driver of the change in cash provided by
operations between the two periods was the increase in accounts receivable and amortization expense during fiscal 2019, offset by increased net income
and to a lesser extent favorable changes in deferred income taxes. Non-cash items in both fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018 include depreciation, amortization
and stock-based compensation expense. These charges do not reflect an actual cash outflow from the Company.
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Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $3.4 million for the first six months of fiscal 2019, compared to $4.2 million in the comparable prior year
period. Fiscal 2018 included cash used to acquire taskforce of approximately $3.4 million, net of cash acquired; the Company did not acquire an entity
in the first six months of fiscal 2019. In the current year, expenditures for property and equipment increased $2.6 million as the Company relocated or
refurbished certain offices.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities totaled $13.3 million for the six months ended November 24, 2018 compared to $2.9 million for the six
months ended November 25, 2017. Net cash used in financing activities for the six months ended November 24, 2018 included dividends paid on the
Company’s common stock of $7.9 million, approximately $1.1 million higher than in the comparable period of the prior year. The change in dividend
paid in the current period was caused by an increase in the Company’s dividend accrual rate of $0.01 per common share compared to the prior year and
a higher number of outstanding common shares after the taskforce and Accretive acquisitions. The Company’s board of directors declared a quarterly
cash dividend of $0.13 per common share on October 16, 2018. The dividend of approximately $4.1 million, paid on December 12, 2018, is accrued in
the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet as of November 24, 2018.

The Company used $13.0 million to purchase approximately 807,000 shares of common stock on the open market during the first six months of
fiscal 2019 at a price averaging $16.12 per common share. The Company did not purchase any shares of common stock on the open market in the prior
year period. Proceeds from the exercise of employee stock options and issuance of shares via the ESPP were approximately $8.7 million higher in fiscal
2019 as compared to the comparable period of fiscal 2018. The Company also reduced its obligation on the Facility by $5.0 million during the first half
of fiscal 2019; there was no payment on the Facility during the comparable prior year period.

As described in Note 3 to the financial statements – Acquisitions, - the purchase agreement for taskforce requires earn-out payments to be made.
Under accounting rules for business combinations, obligations that are contingently payable to the sellers based upon the occurrence of one or more
future events are recorded as a discounted liability on the Company’s balance sheet. The Company is obligated to pay the sellers (in Euros) Adjusted
EBITDA times 6.1 times 15% (Adjusted EBITDA as defined in the purchase agreement) for calendar years 2018 and 2019. The Company estimated the
fair value of the obligation to pay contingent consideration based on a number of different projections of the estimated Adjusted EBITDA for each of the
calendar years. The Company recorded this future obligation using a discount rate of approximately 11.0%, representing the Company’s weighted
average cost of capital. The estimated fair value of the contractual obligation to the contingent consideration as of November 24, 2018 is €3.9 million
(approximately $4.4 million using the exchange rate at the end of the quarter).

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Information regarding recent accounting pronouncements is contained in Note 12- Recent Accounting Pronouncements in the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Interest Rate Risk. We are primarily exposed to market risks from fluctuations in interest rates and the effects of those fluctuations on the market
values of our cash and cash equivalents and our borrowings under our Facility that bear interest at a variable market rate.

As of November 24, 2018, we had approximately $40.8 million of cash and cash equivalents and $58.0 million of borrowings under our Facility.
The earnings on investments are subject to changes in interest rates; however, assuming a constant balance available for investment, a 10% decline in
interest rates would reduce our interest income but would not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.

Borrowings under the Facility bear interest at a rate per annum of either, at the Company’s option, (i) LIBOR plus a margin of 1.25% or 1.50% or
(ii) an alternate base rate, plus margin of 0.25% or 0.50% with the applicable margin depending on the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio. The
alternate base rate is the highest of (i) Bank of America’s prime rate, (ii) the federal funds rate plus 0.50% and (iii) the Eurodollar rate plus 1.0%. We are
exposed to rate risk related to fluctuations in the LIBOR rate primarily; at the current level of borrowing as of November 24, 2018 of $58.0 million, a
10% change in interest rates would have resulted in approximately a $0.2 million change in annual interest expense.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk. For the three months ended November 24, 2018, approximately 21% of the Company’s revenues were
generated outside of the United States. As a result, our operating results are subject to fluctuations in the exchange rates of foreign currencies in relation
to the U.S. dollar. Revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at the monthly average exchange rates
prevailing during the period. Thus, as the value of the U.S. dollar fluctuates relative to the currencies in our non-United States based operations, our
reported results may vary.

Assets and liabilities of our non-United States based operations are translated into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate effective at the end of each
monthly reporting period. Approximately 59% of our balances of cash and cash equivalents as of November 24, 2018 were denominated in U.S. dollars.
The remaining amount of approximately 41% was comprised primarily of cash balances translated from Euros, Mexican Pesos, British Pound Sterling
and Chinese Yuan. The difference resulting from the translation each period of assets and liabilities of our non-United States based operations is
recorded as a component of stockholders’ equity in other accumulated other comprehensive income or loss.

Although we intend to monitor our exposure to foreign currency fluctuations, we do not currently use financial hedging techniques to mitigate
risks associated with foreign currency fluctuations including in a limited number of circumstances when we may be asked to transact with our client in
one currency but are obligated to pay our consultant in another currency. We cannot provide assurance that exchange rate fluctuations will not adversely
affect our financial results in the future.

 
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), the Company carried out an
evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rule
13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of November 24, 2018. Based on that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of November 24, 2018. There was no change in the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act, during the
Company’s quarter ended November 24, 2018 that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
 
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

We are not a party to any material legal proceedings, although we are from time to time party to legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course
of our business.

 
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Other than with respect to the risk factor titled “Our computer hardware and software and telecommunications systems are susceptible
to damage, breach or interruption,” there have been no material changes in our risk factors from those disclosed in Part 1, Item 1A of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 26, 2018, which was filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on July 23,
2018. For convenience, our updated risk factors are included below in this Item 1A. The order in which the risks appear is not intended as an
indication of their relative weight or importance.

A future economic downturn or change in the use of outsourced professional services consultants could adversely affect our business.

While we believe general economic conditions continue to improve in most parts of the world, there is some uncertainty regarding general
economic conditions within some regions and countries in which we operate, leading to reluctance on the part of some multinational companies to spend
on discretionary projects. Deterioration of or increased uncertainty related to the global economy or tightening credit markets could result in a reduction
in the demand for our services and adversely affect our business in the future. In addition, the use of professional services consultants on a
project-by-project basis could decline for non-economic reasons. In the event of a reduction in the demand for our consultants, our financial results
would suffer.

Economic deterioration at one or more of our clients may also affect our allowance for doubtful accounts. Our estimate of losses resulting from
our clients’ failure to make required payments for services rendered has historically been within our expectations and the provisions established.
However, we cannot guarantee we will continue to experience the same credit loss rates we have in the past. A significant change in the liquidity or
financial position of our clients could cause unfavorable trends in receivable collections and cash flows and additional allowances may be required.
These additional allowances could materially affect the Company’s future financial results.

In addition, we are required to periodically, but at least annually, assess the recoverability of certain assets, including deferred tax assets and
goodwill. Softening of the United States economy and international economies could adversely affect our evaluation of the recoverability of deferred tax
assets, requiring us to record additional tax valuation allowances. Our assessment of impairment of goodwill is currently based upon comparing our
market capitalization to our net book value. Therefore, a significant downturn in the future market value of our stock could potentially result in
impairment reductions of goodwill and such an adjustment could materially affect the Company’s future financial results and financial condition.

The market for professional services is highly competitive, and if we are unable to compete effectively against our competitors, our business and
operating results could be adversely affected.

We operate in a competitive, fragmented market, and we compete for clients and consultants with a variety of organizations that offer similar
services. The competition is likely to increase in the future due to the expected growth of the market and the relatively few barriers to entry. Our
principal competitors include:
 

 •  consulting firms
 

 •  local, regional, national and international accounting and other traditional professional services firms
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 •  independent contractors
 

 •  traditional and Internet-based staffing firms
 

 •  the in-house or former in-house resources of our clients

We cannot assure you we will be able to compete effectively against existing or future competitors. Many of our competitors have significantly
greater financial resources, greater revenues and greater name recognition, which may afford them an advantage in attracting and retaining clients and
consultants and in offering pricing concessions. Some of our competitors in certain markets do not provide medical and other benefits to their
consultants, thereby allowing them to potentially charge lower rates to clients. In addition, our competitors may be able to respond more quickly to
changes in companies’ needs and developments in the professional services industry.

Our business depends upon our ability to secure new projects from clients and, therefore, we could be adversely affected if we fail to do so.

We do not have long-term agreements with our clients for the provision of services and our clients may terminate engagements with us at any
time. The success of our business is dependent on our ability to secure new projects from clients. For example, if we are unable to secure new client
projects because of improvements in our competitors’ service offerings, or because of a change in government regulatory requirements, or because of an
economic downturn decreasing the demand for outsourced professional services, our business is likely to be materially adversely affected. New
impediments to our ability to secure projects from clients may develop over time, such as the increasing use by large clients of in-house procurement
groups that manage their relationship with service providers.

We may be legally liable for damages resulting from the performance of projects by our consultants or for our clients’ mistreatment of our
personnel.

Many of our engagements with our clients involve projects or services critical to our clients’ businesses. If we fail to meet our contractual
obligations, we could be subject to legal liability or damage to our reputation, which could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial
condition. While we are not currently subject to any client-related legal claims which we believe are material, it remains possible, because of the nature
of our business, we may be involved in litigation in the future that could materially affect our future financial results. Claims brought against us could
have a serious negative effect on our reputation and on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Because we are in the business of placing our personnel in the workplaces of other companies, we are subject to possible claims by our personnel
alleging discrimination, sexual harassment, negligence and other similar activities by our clients. We may also be subject to similar claims from our
clients based on activities by our personnel. The cost of defending such claims, even if groundless, could be substantial and the associated negative
publicity could adversely affect our ability to attract and retain personnel and clients.

We may not be able to grow our business, manage our growth or sustain our current business.

Historically, we have grown by opening new offices and by increasing the volume of services provided through existing offices. Beginning late in
fiscal 2017, we embarked on several new strategic initiatives, including the implementation of a new operating model to drive growth. While the roll-out
of that operating model is complete in the United States, the adoption internationally is ongoing. Our ability to execute on those strategies or the
disruptions related to implementation of the new operating model may impact or limit our ability to grow our business. There can be no assurance we
will be able to maintain or expand our market presence in our current locations or to successfully enter other markets or locations. Our ability to
continue to grow our business will depend upon an improving global economy and a number of factors, including our ability to:
 

 •  grow our client base
 

 •  expand profitably into new geographies
 

 •  provide additional professional services offerings
 

 •  hire qualified and experienced consultants
 

 •  maintain margins in the face of pricing pressures
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 •  manage costs
 

 •  maintain or grow revenues and increase other service offerings from existing clients

Even if we are able to resume more rapid growth in our revenue, the growth will result in new and increased responsibilities for our management
as well as increased demands on our internal systems, procedures and controls, and our administrative, financial, marketing and other resources. For
instance, a limited number of clients are requesting certain engagements be of a fixed fee nature rather than our traditional hourly time and materials
approach, thus shifting a portion of the burden of financial risk and monitoring to us. Failure to adequately respond to these new responsibilities and
demands may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our ability to serve clients internationally is integral to our strategy and our international activities expose us to additional operational
challenges we might not otherwise face.

Our international activities require us to confront and manage a number of risks and expenses we would not face if we conducted our operations
solely in the United States. Any of these risks or expenses could cause a material negative effect on our operating results. These risks and expenses
include:
 

 •  difficulties in staffing and managing foreign offices as a result of, among other things, distance, language and cultural differences
 

 •  less flexible or future changes in labor laws and regulations in the U.S. and in foreign countries
 

 •  expenses associated with customizing our professional services for clients in foreign countries
 

 •  foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations when we sell our professional services in denominations other than United States’ dollars
 

 •  protectionist laws and business practices that favor local companies
 

 •  political and economic instability in some international markets
 

 •  multiple, conflicting and changing government laws and regulations
 

 •  trade barriers
 

 •  reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries
 

 •  potentially adverse tax consequences
 

 •  the potential impact of Brexit on the economies of European countries, particularly the United Kingdom

We have acquired, and may continue to acquire, companies, and these acquisitions could disrupt our business.

We have acquired several companies, including two during the 2018 fiscal year, and we may continue to acquire companies in the future. Entering
into an acquisition entails many risks, any of which could harm our business, including:
 

 •  diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns
 

 •  failure to integrate the acquired company with our existing business
 

 •  failure to motivate, or loss of, key employees from either our existing business or the acquired business
 

 •  failure to identify certain risks or liabilities during the due diligence process
 

 •  potential impairment of relationships with our existing employees and clients
 

 •  additional operating expenses not offset by additional revenue
 

 •  incurrence of significant non-recurring charges
 

 •  incurrence of additional debt with restrictive covenants or other limitations
 

 
•  addition of significant amounts of intangible assets, including goodwill, that are subject to periodic assessment of impairment, primarily

through comparison of market value of our stock to our net book value, with such impairment potentially resulting in a material impact on
our future financial results and financial condition

 

 •  dilution of our stock as a result of issuing equity securities
 

 •  assumption of liabilities of the acquired company
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Our failure to be successful in addressing these risks or other problems encountered in connection with our past or future acquisitions could cause
us to fail to realize the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions, incur unanticipated liabilities and harm our business generally.

We must provide our clients with highly qualified and experienced consultants, and the loss of a significant number of our consultants, or an
inability to attract and retain new consultants, could adversely affect our business and operating results.

Our business involves the delivery of professional services, and our success depends on our ability to provide our clients with highly qualified and
experienced consultants who possess the skills and experience necessary to satisfy their needs. At various times, such professionals can be in great
demand, particularly in certain geographic areas or if they have specific skill sets. Our ability to attract and retain consultants with the requisite
experience and skills depends on several factors including, but not limited to, our ability to:
 

 •  provide our consultants with either full-time or flexible-time employment
 

 •  obtain the type of challenging and high-quality projects our consultants seek
 

 •  pay competitive compensation and provide competitive benefits
 

 •  provide our consultants with flexibility as to hours worked and assignment of client engagements

There can be no assurance we will be successful in accomplishing any of these factors and, even if we are, we cannot assure we will be successful
in attracting and retaining the number of highly qualified and experienced consultants necessary to maintain and grow our business.

Decreased effectiveness of equity compensation could adversely affect our ability to attract and retain employees.

We have historically used stock options as a component of our employee compensation program in order to align employees’ interests with the
interests of our stockholders, encourage employee retention and provide competitive compensation packages. About 35% of our options outstanding as
of the end of the second quarter of fiscal 2019 are priced at more than the current per share market value of our stock, limiting the grants from those
years as a significant incentive to retain employees.

Our computer hardware and software and telecommunications systems are susceptible to damage, breach or interruption.

The management of our business is aided by the uninterrupted operation of our computer and telecommunication systems. These systems are
vulnerable to security breaches, natural disasters or other catastrophic events, computer viruses, or other interruptions or damage stemming from power
outages, equipment failure or unintended usage by employees. In particular, our employees may have access or exposure to personally identifiable or
otherwise confidential information and customer data and systems, the misuse of which could result in legal liability. In addition, we rely on information
technology systems to process, transmit and store electronic information and to communicate among our locations around the world and with our
clients, partners and consultants. The breadth and complexity of this infrastructure increases the potential risk of security breaches. Security breaches,
including cyber-attacks or cyber-intrusions by computer hackers, foreign governments, cyber terrorists or others with grievances against the industry in
which we operate or us in particular, may disable or damage the proper functioning of our networks and systems. We review and update our systems and
have implemented processes and procedures to protect against security breaches and unauthorized access to our data. Despite our implementation of
security controls, our systems and networks are vulnerable to computer viruses, malware, worms, hackers and other security issues, including physical
and electronic break-ins, router disruption, sabotage or espionage, disruptions from unauthorized access and tampering (including through social
engineering such as phishing attacks), impersonation of authorized users and coordinated denial-of-service attacks. For example, in the past we have
experienced cyber security incidents resulting from unauthorized access to our systems, which to date have not had a material impact on our business or
results of operations; however, there is no assurance that such impacts will not be material in the future. It is also possible our security controls over
personal and other data may not prevent unauthorized access to, or destruction, loss, theft, misappropriation or release of personally identifiable or other
proprietary, confidential, sensitive or valuable information of ours or others; this access could lead to potential unauthorized disclosure of confidential
personal, Company or client information others could use to compete against us or for other disruptive, destructive or harmful purposes and outcomes.
Any such disclosure or damage to our networks and systems could subject us to third party claims against us and reputational harm. If these events
occur, our ability to attract new clients may be impaired or we may be subjected to damages or penalties. In addition, system-wide or local failures of
these information technology systems could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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Our cash and short-term investments are subject to economic risk.

The Company invests its cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments in foreign and domestic bank deposits, money market funds,
commercial paper and certificates of deposit. Certain of these investments are subject to general credit, liquidity, market and interest rate risks. In the
event these risks caused a decline in value of any of the Company’s investments, it could adversely affect the Company’s financial condition.

Our business could suffer if we lose the services of one or more key members of our senior management.

Our future success depends upon the continued employment of our senior management team. The unforeseen departure of one or more key
members of our senior management team could significantly disrupt our operations if we are unable to successfully manage the transition. The
replacement of members of senior management can involve significant time and expense and create uncertainties that could delay, prevent the
achievement of, or make it more difficult for us to pursue and execute on our business opportunities, which could have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and operating results.

Further, we generally do not have non-compete agreements with our employees and, therefore, they could terminate their employment with us at
any time. Our ability to retain the services of members of our senior management and other key employees could be impacted by a number of factors,
including competitors’ hiring practices or the effectiveness of our compensation programs. If members of our senior management or other key
employees leave our employ for any reason, they could pursue other employment opportunities with our competitors or otherwise compete with us. If
we are unable to retain the services of these key personnel or attract and retain other qualified and experienced personnel on acceptable terms, our
business, financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected.

Our quarterly financial results may be subject to significant fluctuations that may increase the volatility of our stock price.

Our results of operations could vary significantly from quarter to quarter. Factors that could affect our quarterly operating results include:
 

 •  our ability to attract new clients and retain current clients
 

 •  the mix of client projects
 

 •  the announcement or introduction of new services by us or any of our competitors
 

 •  the expansion of the professional services offered by us or any of our competitors into new locations both nationally and internationally
 

 •  changes in the demand for our services by our clients
 

 •  the entry of new competitors into any of our markets
 

 •  the number of consultants eligible for our offered benefits as the average length of employment with the Company increases
 

 •  the amount of vacation hours used by consultants or number of holidays in a quarter, particularly the day of the week on which they occur
 

 •  availability of consultants with the requisite skills in demand by clients
 

 •  changes in the pricing of our professional services or those of our competitors
 

 •  variation in foreign exchange rates from one quarter to the next used to translate the financial results of our international operations
 

 •  the amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures relating to management and expansion of our business
 

 •  the timing of acquisitions and related costs, such as compensation charges that fluctuate based on the market price of our common stock
 

 •  the periodic fourth quarter consisting of 14 weeks, which occurred during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2014 and next occurs during the
fiscal year ending May 30, 2020

Due to these factors, we believe quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our results of operations are not meaningful indicators of future performance. It
is possible that in some future periods, our results of operations may be below the expectations of investors. If this occurs, the price of our common
stock could decline.
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If our internal control over financial reporting does not comply with the requirements of Sarbanes, our business and stock price could be
adversely affected.

Section 404 of Sarbanes requires us to evaluate periodically the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, and to include a
management report assessing the effectiveness of our internal controls as of the end of each fiscal year. Our management report on internal controls is
contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Section 404 also requires our independent registered public accountant to report on our internal control
over financial reporting.

Our management does not expect our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors or acts of fraud. A control system, no matter
how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance the control system’s objectives will be met. Further, the design of
a control system must reflect that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the
inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any,
involving us have been, or will be, detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and
breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or mistakes. Controls can also be circumvented by individual acts of a person, or by collusion among
two or more people, or by management override of controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and we cannot assure you any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over
time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies and procedures.
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to errors or fraudulent acts may occur and not be detected.

Although our management has determined, and our independent registered public accountant has attested, that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of May 26, 2018, we cannot assure you that we or our independent registered public accountant will not identify a material
weakness in our internal controls in the future. A material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting may require management and our
independent registered public accountant to evaluate our internal controls as ineffective. If our internal control over financial reporting is not considered
adequate, we may experience a loss of public confidence, which could have an adverse effect on our business and our stock price. Additionally, if our
internal control over financial reporting otherwise fails to comply with the requirements of Sarbanes, our business and stock price could be adversely
affected.

We may be subject to laws and regulations that impose difficult and costly compliance requirements and subject us to potential liability and the
loss of clients.

In connection with providing services to clients in certain regulated industries, such as the gaming, energy and healthcare industries, we are
subject to industry-specific regulations, including licensing and reporting requirements. Complying with these requirements is costly and, if we fail to
comply, we could be prevented from rendering services to clients in those industries in the future. Additionally, changes in these requirements, or in
other laws applicable to us, in the future could increase our costs of compliance.

In addition, we may face challenges from certain state regulatory bodies governing the provision of certain professional services, such as legal
services or audit services. The imposition of such regulations could require additional financial and operational burdens on our business.

It may be difficult for a third party to acquire the Company, and this could depress our stock price.

Delaware corporate law and our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could
delay, defer or prevent a change of control of the Company or our management. These provisions could also discourage proxy contests and make it
difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors and take other corporate actions. As a result, these provisions could limit the price future
investors are willing to pay for your shares. These provisions:
 

 •  authorize our board of directors to establish one or more series of undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which can be determined by the
board of directors at the time of issuance

 

 

•  divide our board of directors into three classes of directors, with each class serving a staggered three-year term. Because the classification of
the board of directors generally increases the difficulty of replacing a majority of the directors, it may tend to discourage a third party from
making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us and may make it difficult to change the composition of the board of
directors

 

 •  prohibit cumulative voting in the election of directors which, if not prohibited, could allow a minority stockholder holding a sufficient
percentage of a class of shares to ensure the election of one or more directors
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 •  require that any action required or permitted to be taken by our stockholders must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of
stockholders and may not be effected by any consent in writing

 

 
•  state that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by the chairman of the board of directors, by our chief executive officer,

by the board of directors after a resolution is adopted by a majority of the total number of authorized directors, or by the holders of not less
than 10% of our outstanding voting stock

 

 •  establish advance notice requirements for submitting nominations for election to the board of directors and for proposing matters that can be
acted upon by stockholders at a meeting

 

 
•  provide that certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws can be amended only by supermajority vote (a 66 2/3 %

majority) of the outstanding shares. In addition, our board of directors can amend our bylaws by majority vote of the members of our board
of directors

 

 •  allow our directors, not our stockholders, to fill vacancies on our board of directors
 

 •  provide that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by resolution of the board of directors

We are required to recognize compensation expense related to employee stock options and our employee stock purchase plan. There is no
assurance the expense we are required to recognize measures accurately the value of our share-based payment awards and the recognition of this
expense could cause the trading price of our common stock to decline.

We measure and recognize compensation expense for all stock-based compensation based on estimated values. Thus, our operating results contain
a non-cash charge for stock-based compensation expense related to employee stock options and our employee stock purchase plan. In general,
accounting guidance requires the use of an option-pricing model to determine the value of share-based payment awards. This determination of value is
affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of highly complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not
limited to, our expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, and actual and projected employee stock option exercise behaviors. Option-
pricing models were developed for use in estimating the value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. Because our
employee stock options have certain characteristics that are significantly different from traded options, and because changes in the subjective
assumptions can materially affect the estimated value, in management’s opinion the existing valuation models may not provide an accurate measure of
the value of our employee stock options. Although the value of employee stock options is determined using an option-pricing model, that value may not
be indicative of the fair value observed in a willing buyer/willing seller market transaction.

The terms of our credit facility impose operating and financial restrictions on us, which may limit our ability to respond to changing business and
economic conditions.

We currently have a $120.0 million secured revolving credit facility which is available through October 21, 2021. We are subject to various
operating covenants under the credit facility which restrict our ability to, among other things, incur liens, incur additional indebtedness, make certain
restricted payments, merge or consolidate and make dispositions of assets. The credit facility also requires us to comply with financial covenants
limiting our total funded debt, minimum interest coverage ratio and maximum leverage ratio. Any failure to comply with these covenants may constitute
a breach under the credit facility, which could result in the acceleration of all or a substantial portion of any outstanding indebtedness and termination of
revolving credit commitments under the credit facility. Our inability to maintain our credit facility could materially and adversely affect our liquidity and
our business.

We may be unable to or elect not to pay our quarterly dividend payment.

The Company currently pays a regular quarterly dividend, subject to quarterly board of director approval. The payment of, or continuation of, the
quarterly dividend is at the discretion of our board of directors and is dependent upon our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements,
general business conditions, tax treatment of dividends in the United States, contractual restrictions contained in credit agreements and other agreements
and other factors deemed relevant by our board of directors. We can give no assurance that dividends will be declared and paid in the future. The failure
to pay the quarterly dividend, reduction of the quarterly dividend rate or the discontinuance of the quarterly dividend could adversely affect the trading
price of our common stock.

Failure to comply with data privacy laws and regulations could have a materially adverse effect on our reputation, results of operations or
financial condition, or have other adverse consequences.

The collection, hosting, transfer, disclosure, use, storage and security of personal information required to provide our services is subject to federal,
state and foreign data privacy laws. These laws, which are not uniform, do one or more of the following: regulate the collection, transfer (including in
some cases, the transfer outside the country of collection), processing, storage, use and disclosure of personal information, require notice to individuals
of privacy practices; give individuals certain access and correction rights with respect to their personal information; and prevent the use or disclosure of
personal information for secondary purposes such as marketing. Under certain circumstances, some of these laws require us to provide notification to
affected individuals, data protection
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authorities and/or other regulators in the event of a data breach. In many cases, these laws apply not only to third-party transactions, but also to transfers
of information among the Company and its subsidiaries. In addition, the European Union has adopted a comprehensive General Data Protection
Regulation (the “GDPR”) which became fully effective in May 2018. Complying with the enhanced obligations imposed by the GDPR has resulted and
may continue to result in additional costs to our business and has required and may further require us to amend certain of our business practices. Further,
enforcement actions and investigations by regulatory authorities related to data security incidents and privacy violations continue to increase. It is
possible that future enactment of more restrictive laws, rules or regulations and/or future enforcement actions or investigations could have an adverse
impact on us through increased costs or restrictions on our businesses and noncompliance could result in regulatory penalties and significant legal
liability.

We may be unable to adequately protect our intellectual property rights, including our brand name. If we fail to adequately protect our
intellectual property rights, the value of such rights may diminish and our results of operations and financial condition may be adversely
affected.

We believe establishing, maintaining and enhancing the RGP and Resources Global Professionals brand name is important to our business. We
have applied for registration in the United States and some foreign jurisdictions with respect to certain service marks. We own United States trademark
registrations for our RGP service mark and puzzle piece logo, Reg. No. 4,649.837; our RGP service mark, puzzle piece and tag line, Reg.
No. 4,649.838; our RGP Healthcare service mark and puzzle piece logo, Reg. No. 4,649.839; our RGP Legal service mark and puzzle piece logo, Reg.
No. 4,649.840; and our RGP Search service mark and puzzle piece logo, Reg. No. 4,649.841. In addition, following the acquisition of the Countsy
business, we are now owners of the COUNTSY word and design mark registrations in the United States as well (Reg. Nos. 5,487,577, 5,487,743 and
5,493,357).

We also obtained a United States registration for the Resources Global Professionals mark, Registration No. 3,298,841 September 25, 2007, and
this trademark registration was renewed in 2018. However, our rights to this service mark are not currently protected in some of our foreign
registrations, and there is no guarantee any of our pending applications for such registration (or any appeals thereof or future applications) will be
successful.

If another party adopts or uses a name, service mark or trademark similar to ours, they could make infringement claims against us or could thereby
impede our ability to build brand identity if they have prior rights. We cannot assure you our business would not be adversely affected if such a claim
was made or if we were required to change our name.
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ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.

The following table provides information about purchases by the Company of its common stock during the three months ended November 24,
2018.
 

Period   

Total
Number
of Shares

Purchased   

Average
Price
Paid
per

Share    

Total Number of
Shares

Purchased as
Part of

Announced
Programs (1)    

Approximate Dollar Value of
Shares that May Yet be

Purchased Under Announced
Program  

August 26, 2018 — September 22, 2018    —     $ —      —     $ 112,525,688 
September 23, 2018 — October 20, 2018    —     $ —      —     $ 112,525,688 
October 21, 2018 — November 24, 2018    338,536   $16.36    338,536   $ 106,985,857 

    
 

      
 

  

Total August 26, 2018 — November 24, 2018    338,536   $16.36    338,536   $ 106,985,857 
    

 

      

 

  

 

(1) In July 2015, our board of directors approved a stock repurchase program authorizing the purchase, at the discretion of the Company’s senior
executives, of our common stock for an aggregate dollar limit not to exceed $150 million. Subject to the aggregate dollar limit, the currently
authorized stock repurchase program does not have an expiration date. Repurchases under the program may take place in the open market or in
privately negotiated transactions and may be made pursuant to a Rule 10b5-1 plan.

 
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.

The exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index are filed with, or incorporated by reference in, this Report.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
 
Exhibit
Number   Description of Document

  31.1*
  

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

  31.2*
  

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

  32**   Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS*   XBRL Instance.

101.SCH*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema.

101.CAL*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation.

101.DEF*   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition.

101.LAB*  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels.

101.PRE*   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation.
 
* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

   RESOURCES CONNECTION, INC.

Date: January 3, 2019    /s/ Kate W. Duchene
   Kate W. Duchene

   
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: January 3, 2019    /s/ Herbert M. Mueller
   Herbert M. Mueller

   
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

I, Kate W. Duchene, certify that:
 

 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Resources Connection, Inc.;
 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

 

 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined

in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: January 3, 2019
 

/s/ Kate W. Duchene
Kate W. Duchene

President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

I, Herbert M. Mueller, certify that:
 

 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Resources Connection, Inc.;
 

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

 

 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined

in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f)
and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

 5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: January 3, 2019
 

/s/ Herbert M. Mueller
Herbert M. Mueller

Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

WRITTEN STATEMENT
PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

The undersigned, Kate W. Duchene, the Chief Executive Officer of Resources Connection, Inc., and Herbert M. Mueller, Chief Financial Officer
of Resources Connection, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, hereby certify that, to the best of her or his knowledge:
 

 (i) the Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended November 24, 2018 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

 

 (ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

 

Dated: January 3, 2019    /S/ KATE W. DUCHENE
   Kate W. Duchene
   President and Chief Executive Officer

   /S/ HERBERT M. MUELLER
   Herbert M. Mueller
   Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification accompanies the Report on Form 10-Q pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350. It is not being filed for purposes of
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and it is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company, whether
made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.


